& Herefordshire
O Council

Agenda

Health, Care and Wellbeing
Scrutiny Committee

Date: Monday 29 July 2024

Time: 2.00 pm

Place: Conference Room 1 - Herefordshire Council, Plough
Lane Offices, Hereford, HR4 OLE

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting.
For any further information please contact:

Ben Baugh, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01432 261882
Email: ben.baugh2@herefordshire.gov.uk

If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in
another format, please call Ben Baugh, Democratic Services Officer on
01432 261882 or e-mail ben.baugh2@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of
the meeting.



Agenda for the meeting of the Health, Care and
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

Membership

Chairperson Councillor Pauline Crockett
Vice-chairperson Councillor Polly Andrews

Councillor Jenny Bartlett
Councillor Simeon Cole
Councillor Dave Davies
Councillor Mark Dykes
Councillor Richard Thomas



Herefordshire Council 29 JULY 2024

Agenda

Pages

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive apologies for absence.

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES

To receive details of any councillor nominated to attend the meeting in place
of a member of the committee.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive declarations of interest in respect of items on the agenda.

4. MINUTES 11-18

To receive the minutes of the meeting held on Monday 25 March 2024.

HOW TO SUBMIT QUESTIONS

The deadline for the submission of questions for this meeting is 5.00 pm on
Tuesday 23 July 2024.

Questions must be submitted to councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk.
Questions sent to any other address may not be accepted.

Accepted questions and the responses will be published as a supplement to
the agenda papers prior to the meeting. Further information and guidance is
available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved

5. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

To receive any written questions from members of the public.

6. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL

To receive any written questions from members of the council.

7. CARE QUALITY COMMISSION INSPECTION OF THE COUNTY 19 - 86
HOSPITAL

This report provides the Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee with
the background and findings of the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC)
inspection of Wye Valley NHS Trust: The County Hospital.

8. PROPOSED RELOCATION OF THE GENERAL PRACTICE OUT OF To Follow
HOURS SERVICE IN HEREFORD

This report provides the committee with details of the proposed relocation of
the out of hours general practice service for Herefordshire. NHS
Herefordshire and Worcestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB) have agreed
to this relocation, subject to approval by Herefordshire Council’s Health, Care
and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee.

9. WORK PROGRAMME To Follow

To consider the work programme for the committee.



mailto:councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved

Herefordshire Council 29 JULY 2024

10. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING
Date of the next scheduled meeting: Thursday 3 October 2024, 2.00 pm



https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1155&MId=9360&Ver=4

The public’s rights to information and attendance at meetings

You have aright to:

e Attend all council, cabinet, committee and sub-committee meetings unless the business to be
transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information.

¢ Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting.
Agenda and reports (relating to items to be considered in public) are available at
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings

¢ Inspect minutes of the council and all committees and sub-committees and written
statements of decisions taken by the cabinet or individual cabinet members for up to six
years following a meeting.

¢ Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to four
years from the date of the meeting (a list of the background papers to a report is given at the
end of each report). A background paper is a document on which the officer has relied in
writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public.

e Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all councillors with
details of the membership of cabinet and of all committees and sub-committees. Information
about councillors is available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors

e Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the council have delegated decision
making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. The council’s constitution is
available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution

e Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the
council, cabinet, committees and sub-committees and to inspect documents.

Recording of meetings

Please note that filming, photography and recording of this meeting is permitted provided that it
does not disrupt the business of the meeting.

Members of the public are advised that if you do not wish to be filmed or photographed you
should let the governance support team know before the meeting starts so that anyone who
intends filming or photographing the meeting can be made aware.

The reporting of meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of those doing the
reporting to ensure that they comply.

The council may make a recording of this public meeting or stream it live to the council’s
website. Such videos are made available for members of the public via the council’s YouTube
channel at www.youtube.com/@HerefordshireCouncil/streams

Public transport links

The Herefordshire Council office at Plough Lane is located off Whitecross Road in Hereford,
approximately 1 kilometre from the City Bus Station.

Bus maps are available here: www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/download/78/bus_maps



http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution
https://www.youtube.com/@HerefordshireCouncil/streams
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/download/78/bus_maps




. Herefordshire
O Council

The seven principles of public life

(Nolan Principles)

Selflessness

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.

Integrity

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve
any interests and relationships.

Objectivity

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit,
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

Accountability

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

Openness

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear
and lawful reasons for so doing.

Honesty

Holders of public office should be truthful.

Leadership

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour and

treat others with respect. They should actively promote and robustly support the
principles and challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.






Guide to Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

Committee membership
Scrutiny is a statutory role fulfilled by councillors who are not members of the cabinet.

The role of the scrutiny committees is to help develop policy, to carry out reviews of council and
other local services, and to hold decision makers to account for their actions and decisions.

Council has decided that there will be five scrutiny committees. The committees reflect the
balance of political groups on the council.

The Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee consists of 7 councillors.

Councillor Party

Polly Andrews (Vice-Chairperson) Liberal Democrats

Jenny Bartlett The Green Party

Pauline Crockett (Chairperson) Independents for Herefordshire
Simeon Cole Conservative Party

Dave Davies Conservative Party

Mark Dykes Liberal Democrats

Richard Thomas Conservative Party

Scrutiny functions
The committees have the power:

(@) to review, influence policy or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in
connection with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the
executive,

(b) to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the executive with respect to the
discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the executive,

(c) toreview or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the
discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the executive,

(d) to make reports or recommendations to council or the cabinet with respect to the
discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the executive,

(e) to make reports or recommendations to council or the cabinet on matters which affect the
authority's area or the inhabitants of that area,

(f)  to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the
discharge by the responsible authorities of their crime and disorder functions and to make
reports or recommendations to the council with respect to the discharge of those functions.
In this regard crime and disorder functions means:

() a strategy for the reduction of crime and disorder in the area (including anti-social
and other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment); and

(i) a strategy for combatting the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in the
area; and

(i) a strategy for the reduction of re-offending in the area

Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee Updated 24 May 2024



(g) toreview and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the
health service in its area and make reports and recommendations to a responsible person
on any matter it has reviewed or scrutinised or to be consulted by a relevant NHS body or
health service provider in accordance with the Regulations (2013/218) as amended. In this
regard health service includes services designed to secure improvement

() inthe physical and mental health of the people of England, and
(i) in the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of physical and mental iliness, and

(i) any services provided in pursuance of arrangements under section 75 in relation to
the exercise of health-related functions of a local authority.

(h) to review and scrutinise the exercise by risk management authorities of flood risk
management functions or coastal erosion risk management functions which may affect the
local authority's area.

() To track actions and undertake an annual effectiveness review

The remit of Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

Adult social care (including adult safeguarding)

Health and wellbeing board

Housing

Adults mental and physical health and wellbeing

Safe Herefordshire campaign

Outbreak control plan

New models of care accommodation

Talk Communities

Homelessness

All ages whole system commissioning strategy

Independent living services and assistive technology plan

Adults and communities budget and policy framework

Statutory health scrutiny powers including the review and scrutiny of any matter relating to
the planning provision and operation of health services affecting the area and to make
reports and recommendations on these matters

Who attends scrutiny committee meetings?
o Members of the committee, including the chairperson and vice-chairperson.

o Cabinet members, they are not members of the committee but attend principally to answer
any guestions the committee may have and inform the debate.

Officers of the council to present reports and give technical advice to the committee.

People external to the council invited to provide information to the committee.

Other councillors can attend but can only speak at the discretion of the chairperson.

Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee Updated 24 May 2024
10


http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=62&crumb-action=replace&docguid=IC11DDC30829111DBA731C284100B17B4

(i)}kﬂeﬂndshke

Council

AGENDA ITEM 4

Minutes of the meeting of the Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny
Committee held in Conference Room 1 - Herefordshire Council,
Plough Lane Offices, Hereford, HR4 OLE on Monday 25 March 2024

at 2.00 pm

Committee members

presentin person
and voting:

Councillors: Jenny Bartlett, Simeon Cole, Pauline Crockett (Chairperson),
Dave Davies, Mark Dykes, Richard Thomas and Kevin Tillett (Vice-
Chairperson)

Others in attendance:

B Baugh
Carole Gandy

S Harris

M Pearce
A Rees-Glinos
R Skinner

David Thomas

D Webb
N Willetts

Democratic Services Officer

Cabinet Member Adults, Health and
Wellbeing

Director of Strategy and Partnerships

Director of Public Health
Governance Support Assistant
Deputy Chief Nurse

Associate Director, Primary Care and
Community Mental Health Services

Statutory Scrutiny Officer
Director of Nursing

28. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

All committee members were present.

Herefordshire Council
Herefordshire Council

Herefordshire and Worcestershire
Health and Care NHS Trust

Herefordshire Council
Herefordshire Council

NHS Herefordshire and
Worcestershire Integrated Care Board

Herefordshire and Worcestershire
Health and Care NHS Trust

Herefordshire Council

Herefordshire and Worcestershire
Health and Care NHS Trust

Apologies were noted from: Hilary Hall, Corporate Director Community Wellbeing,
Herefordshire Council; Robert Mackie, Director of Finance and Interim Chief Executive,
Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust; and Christine Price, Chief
Officer, Healthwatch Herefordshire.

29. NAMED SUBSTITUTES

There were no named substitutes.

30. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

No declarations of interest were made.

31. MINUTES

The minutes of the previous meeting were received.

Resolved:

11




32.

33.

34.

That the minutes of the meeting held on 29 January 2024 be confirmed as a
correct record and be signed by the Chairperson.

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

No questions had been received from members of the public.
QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL

No questions had been received from councillors.

UPDATE ON OUTCOMES OF CARE QUALITY COMMISSION INSPECTION OF
HEREFORDSHIRE AND WORCESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND CARE NHS TRUST

The Chairperson invited representatives from the Herefordshire and Worcestershire
Health and Care NHS Trust (the trust) to update the committee on the outcomes of the
Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection report of the trust.

The committee received the presentation ‘Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and
Care NHS Trust Improvement Plan’ (link to the presentation). The Director of Strategy
and Partnerships presented the slides: Background; Trust services in Herefordshire; Our
communities and patients. The Director of Nursing presented the slides:- Overview of
our Improvement Plan; CQC inspection; Rating for mental health services; Overall rating;
Areas for improvement; Current actions; and Six key elements of the Improvement Plan.

The principal points of the discussion included:

1.  The Chairperson noted that aspects of the inspection report on mental health
services were relevant to Herefordshire and welcomed the Improvement Plan; the
report also covered a broader range of services which were delivered by the Trust
in Worcestershire.

2. In response to a comment from a committee member about the ratio of ‘leaders’ to
other staff, the Director of Nursing explained that leaders included anyone with line
management responsibility.

3.  The Director of Strategy and Partnerships commented on the interdependencies
within mental health and on the regulated activity delivered by the trust.

4.  The Vice-Chairperson questioned the level of awareness about the issues
inherited through the transfer of the mental health and learning disability service to
the trust in 2018.

The Director of Strategy and Partnerships commented that due diligence had not
identified any performance ‘red flags’ and outlined subsequent challenges which
had arisen from the community mental health transformation process and from the
COVID-19 pandemic. It was noted that recruitment and retention was a significant
issue for the trust, and for the NHS generally.

The Associate Director, Primary Care and Community Mental Health Services
commented that there had been high vacancy rates in some community teams but
this was now returning to typical levels, in the context of the characteristics of the
health service nationally; the vacancy rate for adult mental health community
services was around 12%.

5.  Attention was drawn to the slide Rating for mental health services which showed
the position for ‘Acute wards for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive

12


https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/b26069/Supplement%201%20-%20Presentation%20Herefordshire%20and%20Worcestershire%20Health%20and%20Care%20NHS%20Trust%20improvement%20.pdf?T=9

10.

11.

12.

care units’ as ‘Inadequate’ for Safe, and there was decline to ‘Requires
Improvement’ for Effective, Caring, and Responsive.

The Director of Nursing confirmed that the trust was looking at all areas. An
overview was provided of the challenges, exacerbated by the pandemic and
workforce difficulties, in adult inpatient mental health services.

In response to a question about the effects of the pandemic, the Director of
Nursing explained that demand went down initially, as people avoided health
settings, but many individuals’ mental health had deteriorated during that period
which had resulted in increased demand for mental health services subsequently.

The Director of Strategy and Partnerships added that this was particularly apparent
for children and young people. The Vice-Chairperson commented on the
consequential challenges for learning providers.

The Chairperson noted that the trust had experienced complications arising from a
disruptive, national cyber security attack, and had undertaken a refurbishment
scheme at the Stonebow Unit in Hereford.

The Associate Director, Primary Care and Community Mental Health Services
provided an overview of primary and secondary care but explained that the
community mental health transformation process had sought to create a greater
level of integration, recognising that patient care needs may vary over time.

In response to a suggestion, the Director of Strategy and Partnerships agreed to
provide an infographic guide to mental health services across Herefordshire.

A committee member, noting that 700 out of c. 4,500 members of staff responded
to engagement during July to December 2023, questioned whether the approach
to the Improvement Plan was strong enough in terms of staff engagement.

The Director of Nursing commented that: the engagement was broader than the
134 members of staff involved in the CQC inspection; there was an annual staff
survey, with a response rate of c.40%; a ‘pulse survey’ was being undertaken
bimonthly in order to check on progress; and the trust was working with staff
networks to encourage feedback.

The Director of Strategy and Partnerships commented that: an Improvement
Director had been appointed; feedback from staff resonated with the findings of the
inspection, and the trust was focused on moving forward in a positive way; the
pandemic had limited opportunities for training and skills development but a
leadership development programme had now been introduced; communications
activity included weekly briefings from the Chief Executive Officer; and other
intelligence was being captured, including through links with Healthwatch.

In response to questions from a committee member, the Director of Nursing
explained the nuances between: the CQC'’s specific definition of a ‘closed culture’,
i.e. ‘a poor culture that can lead to harm, including human rights breaches such as
abuse’, and its guidance which the trust used to check its own services and to
identify those potentially at risk; and developing an ‘open culture’, i.e. where staff
could speak out and feel listened to, which was being supported by a ‘freedom to
speak up’ guardian and the recruitment of 20 champions across the organisation.

The Director of Strategy and Partnerships confirmed that the Chief Executive was
accountable for the Improvement Plan ultimately, reporting to the quality and safety

13



13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

committee, but other executive officers were responsible for leading on the six
improvement workstreams.

In response to a question from the Vice-Chairperson, the Director of Strategy and
Partnerships said that, although certain matters identified by the inspection might
have been anticipated, the scale of some of the issues and the level of concern
within the workforce had been unexpected. Therefore, independent experts had
been brought in to support the leadership team with its learning and development
journey, this included exploration of how to make more agile and better informed
decisions. The Director of Nursing added that the report made uncomfortable
reading but it was considered fair and just.

The Deputy Chief Nurse outlined the role of the NHS Herefordshire and
Worcestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB) in terms of planning and overseeing
the delivery of good quality health services, and supporting providers to enable
continuous improvement. It was noted that the ICB had provided some additional
capacity to the trust, and had been involved in the development of the
Improvement Plan and related metrics.

In response to questions from a committee member, the Director of Nursing
advised that: recent CQC inspections had used the same set of regulatory
standards, key domains, and lines of enquiry but a new assessment approach was
to be introduced; and the trust was working to embed the CQC framework
throughout its routine governance structure.

Later in the meeting, the Director of Nursing commented that the new rating
system would be clearer, informed by a more rounded base of evidence.

The Director of Strategy and Partnerships confirmed that non-executive directors
were involved in the board effectiveness review, and training was being provided to
new non-executive directors.

The Associate Director, Primary Care and Community Mental Health Services
provided an overview of issues around psychology waiting times in community-
based mental health services for adults of working age in Worcestershire, and said
that, whilst there were workforce vacancies, the situation was being managed
within parameters in Herefordshire.

The Director of Nursing acknowledged risks associated with the trust’s estate,
confirmed that issues relating to premises and facilities were now being considered
in governance meetings, and commented on some of the challenges with service
delivery in sparsely populated rural areas.

The Associate Director, Primary Care and Community Mental Health Services
outlined plans to enhance accessibility at 27a St Owen Street, Hereford.

The Associate Director, Primary Care and Community Mental Health Services said
that a significant issue for the trust’s workforce was the implementation of new
parking restrictions in the vicinity of Rose Cottage in Ledbury and Etnham Street in
Leominster, and requested the council to consider the potential for greater
flexibility.

This matter was explored by the committee later in the meeting: a view was
expressed that parking schemes involved broader issues for residents, businesses
and other stakeholders; and another view was expressed that the specific request
made by the trust should be looked at by the executive.

14



20.

21.

22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

The Director of Nursing confirmed that the CQC had spoken with patients and
carers, and the inspection team worked alongside an expert by experience.

With reference made to safety issues with the Mortimer ward, a committee
member expressed concerns about mixed gender wards.

The Director of Nursing commented on some of the challenges of the
Herefordshire and Worcestershire footprint and enabling single gender wards
without moving people away from their families and communities.

It was reported that a quality improvement project for the Mortimer ward had
commenced, involving the separation of corridors and staffing, staff training, and
the development of sexual safety charters.

It was also reported that the ‘Getting It Right First Time’ national programme was
informing the redesign of adult inpatient wards.

In response a question from the Vice-Chairperson, the Director of Strategy and
Partnerships advised that provision for strengthening governance had been made
corporately, so did not affect investments in frontline care or in the estates
strategy.

At the request of the Chairperson, an overview was provided of the links between
the trust and Talk Community, both strategically and operationally, and the work
being undertaken collectively to deliver the community mental health
transformation model, including with the voluntary sector and primary care settings.

In response to a question from a committee member, the Director of Nursing
commented on the benefits of bank staff, particularly in terms of flexibility where
there was an increase in clinical activity in an area, and reported that there was a
project underway to examine the potential to reduce spend on agency staff.

The Chairperson highlighted the importance of mandatory training being
undertaken by staff, albeit the inspection report indicated that completion rates
were higher in Herefordshire than in Worcestershire.

In response to a question from the Vice-Chairperson, the Director of Nursing
reported that a new estates and facilities tracking system had been developed, and
items of equipment were being monitored.

The Director of Strategy and Partnerships recognised that changing culture
involved a longer term journey but noted that leadership development and training
had commenced, and was being well attended. The Director of Nursing added that
the CQC expected to see sustained improvement over several years.

The Director of Nursing advised that ‘must do’ / basic standard matters identified
through the inspection report had been actioned and would be monitored over the
next twelve months.

The Director of Nursing said that there had been an increase in incident reporting
around sexual safety but was reassured that, reflecting clarifications in
understanding, staff were identifying and reporting unacceptable behaviour.

Responding to a question about the robustness of the data to monitor changes, the

Director of Nursing reported that a new suite of metrics was being developed, with
other metrics being used to assist in the short term.

15



35.

30. The Director of Strategy and Partnerships advised that, in addition to the surveys
being undertaken, the trust was working with Healthwatch to explore patient and
carer experiences.

31. The Cabinet Member Adults, Health and Wellbeing: welcomed the presentation
and debate; said that the inspection report highlighted difficult issues but also
some positives; did not support mixed gender wards personally but noted the cost
implications of other arrangements; noted that concerns about fairness and
equality could have an impact on staff recruitment and retention; commented that
changing culture in any public organisation was complicated, as it involved
changing people’s perceptions; and commended the trust for recognising the
problems and for acting upon them.

32. The Director of Nursing clarified that the CQC did not have a set opinion on mixed
gender wards, the issues identified in the inspection report related to management
within that environment.

33. The Director of Public Health emphasised that ‘Good mental wellbeing throughout
life’ was one of the priorities of the Herefordshire Joint Local Health and Wellbeing
Strategy 2023-2033 (link to the strateqgy), there was a positive working relationship
with the trust, and good progress was being made with some of the shortcomings
identified in the inspection report.

At the conclusion of the debate, the Statutory Scrutiny Officer summarised potential
recommendations, as identified by committee members during the meeting.
Amendments and additions were discussed. The following resolution was then agreed
by the committee.

Resolved: That
1. Cabinet to consider how it can support NHS staff with parking availability
and charges when undertaking locality based working, with specific regard

to Rose Cottage, Ledbury and Etnam Street, Leominster;

2. Thetrust be requested to provide an infographic guide to mental health
services across Herefordshire; and

3. Thetrust to provide the committee with an update on the six work streams of
the improvement plan within twelve months.

[Note: there was a short adjournment before the next agenda item]
WORK PROGRAMME 2024/25

The Statutory Scrutiny Officer introduced the draft work programme for the committee for
the municipal year 2024/25.

It was noted that there had been movement in the work programme since the last
meeting to accommodate the Care Quality Commission inspection reports on
Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust at this meeting, and on
Wye Valley NHS Trust: The County Hospital at the next scheduled meeting.
Resolved:

That the draft work programme be agreed, subject to periodical reviews, as the
basis for the primary focus for the committee for the municipal year 2024/25.

16


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/3677/health_and_wellbeing_strategy

36. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

The date of the next scheduled meeting was identified as Monday 20 May 2024.*
Proposed dates for the municipal year 2024/25 were noted.

[*Note: this meeting was rescheduled to Tuesday 28 May 2024, 12.30 pm but was
subsequently postponed]

The meeting ended at 4.28 pm Chairperson

17






AGENDA ITEM 7

& Herefordshire
O Council

Title of report: Care Quality Commission
Inspection of The County Hospital

Meeting: Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
Meeting date: Monday 29 July 2024

Report by: Statutory Scrutiny Officer

Classification

Open

Decision type

This is not an executive decision

Wards affected

(All Wards);

Purpose

This report provides the Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee with the background and
findings of the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) inspection of Wye Valley NHS Trust: The County
Hospital.

Recommendation(s)

That:

a) The committee note the report and findings; and

b) Make recommendations to Wye Valley NHS Trust and to Herefordshire Council following
scrutiny of the report.

Alternative options

1. For scrutiny to not consider the outcome of the Commission led inspection. This is not
recommended. The inspection has moved the trust from being good to requires improvement.

Key considerations
2.  The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspected urgent and emergency services at The County

Hospital initially on 5, 6 and 7 December 2023 (first visit), with a follow up inspection on the 20
December 2023 (second visit). This was an unannounced full core service inspection. The CQC

Further information on the subject of this report is available from
Danial Webb, Danial.Webb@herefordshire.gov.uk

19



checked the quality of the services in response to being made aware of emerging risks within the
department. Following the inspection it judged the services to requires improvement.

Overall rating for this location Requires Improvement
Are services safe? Requires Improvement
Are services effective? Requires Improvement
Are services caring? Good @
Are services responsive to people’s needs? Requires Improvement
Are services well-led? Requires Improvement

The findings from the CQC inspection are attached as Appendix A. In the report, the CQC told
the trust that it must take action to bring services into line with four legal requirements. The trust
must ensure:

a) Itis assessing the risks to the health and safety of patients of receiving care or treatment
and doing all that is reasonably practicable to mitigate any such risks through carrying out
and documenting regular observations, clinically-led navigation of patients through the
department provided by trained and experienced staff, managing patients medicines on
time, assessing and responding to deteriorating patients and responding to any risks such
as sepsis, pressure ulcers, falls or patients in pain. (Regulation 12 (2) (a)(b): Safe care and
treatment).

b) It has sufficient number of suitably qualified, competent, skilled and experienced staff who
receive such appropriate training to carry out the duties they are employed to perform and
ensure staff are trained to the right competency in safeguarding and life support. The
provider must have sufficient medical staff to run the department safely and effectively
including a paediatric emergency medicine consultant. (Regulation 18 (1) (2) (a): Staffing).

c) Itis assessing the risks to the health and safety of patients of receiving care or treatment
and doing all that is reasonably practicable to mitigate any such risks through effective and
safe care to patients needing ongoing treatment but unable to have timely access to a
hospital bed. (Regulation 12 (2) (a)(b): Safe care and treatment).

d) There are systems and processes to assess, monitor and improve the quality and safety of
the services provided in the carrying on of the regulated activities. It must assess, monitor
and mitigate the risks relating to the health, safety and welfare of patients and others who
may be at risk which arise from the carrying on of the regulated activity. The service must
have an effective governance system, risk profile and audit programme to be assured it is
providing safe quality care and knows and addresses where it should improve. (Regulation
17 (1) (2) (a)(b): Good governance)

It further advised that the services should:

e) improve the safe and proper management of medicines are stored safely and
appropriately. (Regulation 12.)

20



f) Ensure improved arrangements for offering food and drink to patients who have been
waiting a long time to be seen, transferred or discharged.

5.  The CQC inspection report notes the trust’s “failures to discharge due to pressures for care
packages in the community”, and further notes that this “delay in discharging patients safely from
ward beds meant there was still poor flow through the department which led to long delays for
the patient’s needing admission.”

6. A presentation to the committee by Wye Valley NHS Trust is attached at Appendix B.

7. The Wye Valley NHS Trust works with more than one local authority to discharge patients into
community care, and working arrangements with Herefordshire Council are strong and effective.
A briefing note, providing an overview of integrated working in Herefordshire between adult
social care and the trust, is attached at Appendix C.

Community impact

8.  Scrutiny committees do not make decisions for Herefordshire Council. They make
recommendations to Cabinet and to Council, which those bodies must decide whether to accept
or reject. The community impact of implementing any recommendation should be assessed
when Cabinet or Council decide to adopt the recommendation.

Environmental impact

9. Whilst this is a decision on back office functions and will have minimal environmental impacts,
consideration has been made to minimise waste and resource use in line with the council’s
Environmental Policy.

Equality duty

10. The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can positively
contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and demonstrate that we are
paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of policies and in the delivery of
services. As this is a decision on back office functions, we do not believe that it will have an
impact on our equality duty.

Resource implications
11. There are no resource implications in considering this report and appendices.
Legal implications

12. Herefordshire Council has designated statutory health scrutiny powers including the review and
scrutiny of any matter relating to the planning provision and operation of health services affecting
the area and to make reports and recommendations on these matters to the Health, Care and
Wellbeing Scrutiny

13. It has the responsibility to make reports and recommendations to a responsible person on any
matter it has reviewed or scrutinised or to be consulted by a relevant NHS body or health service
provider in accordance with the Regulations (2013/218) as amended. In this regard health
service includes services designed to secure improvement:

a. in the physical and mental health of the people of England, and

b.  inthe prevention, diagnosis and treatment of physical and mental illness, and

c.  any services provided in pursuance of arrangements under section 75 in relation to the
exercise of health-related functions of a local authority

21



Risk management

14. There are no specific risks identified in considering this report.
Consultees

No consultation was carried out in the production of this report.
Appendices

Appendix A - Care Quality Commission, Wye Valley NHS Trust: The County Hospital, Inspection
Report, 28 February 2024

Appendix B - Presentation by Wye Valley NHS Trust: Care Quality Commission Inspection,
Emergency Department*

[*the presentation has been updated since it was published for the (postponed) 28 May
2024 meeting]

Appendix C - Briefing Note: Overview of Integrated Working between Adult Social Care and Wye
Valley NHS Trust

Background papers

None identified

22



Appendix A

CareQuality
Commission

Wye Valley NHS Trust

The County Hospital

Inspection report

County Hospital

Union Walk

Hereford

HR1 2ER Date of inspection visit: 5 December to 7 December
Tel: 01432355444 2023 and 20 December 2023

www.wyevalley.nhs.uk Date of publication: 28/02/2024

Ratings

Overall rating for this location Requires Improvement @
Are services safe? Requires Improvement @
Are services effective? Requires Improvement @
Are services caring? Good @
Are services responsive to people’s needs? Requires Improvement @
Are services well-led? Requires Improvement @

1 The County Hospital Inspection report 23


ben.baugh2
Typewriter
Appendix A


Our findings

Overall summary of services at The County Hospital

Requires Improvement @ = &

Urgent and emergency care was delivered by the emergency department (ED) based at County Hospital, Hereford. It
provides consultant-led emergency care and treatment 24 hours a day, 7 days a week to people across Herefordshire
and further.

The ED was split into different sections; ‘resus’, for patients who required immediate lifesaving treatment or
resuscitation, ‘majors’, for patients with serious and life-threatening conditions; and ‘minors’, for patients who had
minor injuries. There was a triage area or ‘pitstop’ where all patients were assessed and a it to sit” area in majors for
patients who were awaiting further tests or a bed in majors. There was a same-day emergency care unit which saw
ambulatory patients who needed treatment or tests and could be discharged home after this.

There was a paediatric area used to treat children and young people, including a waiting area. There was a waiting room
for patients who had made their own way to the department as well as a waiting area for patients waiting for treatment
for minor injuries. In addition to these areas an internal corridor was used to hold and treat up to 4 patients when the
department was at capacity.

We inspected this service on 5, 6 and 7 December 2023 (first visit) and did a follow up inspection on the 20 December
2023 (second visit). This was an unannounced full core service inspection looking at urgent and emergency care. We
checked the quality of the services in response to being made aware of emerging risks within the department.

2 The County Hospital Inspection report o4



Urgent and emergency services

Requires Improvement N

Our rating of this location went down. We rated it as requires improvement because:

+ There was a risk that a deteriorating child might not be quickly identified. This was as staff working in the children’s
department had not all completed paediatric life support training, paediatric competencies, and children’s
safeguarding training.

« The layout of the department meant some patients were not visible to the staff responsible for their safety and
welfare. However, this had been improved between our inspection visits.

« Non-clinical reception staff were expected to navigate patients to the minor injuries waiting area when they were not
trained in clinical decision making.

« There were insufficient medical staff at consultant level and nursing staff to care for patients and keep them safe
without using high numbers of bank, agency, and locum staff. The consultant numbers were significantly below the
recommendations of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine and there was not a paediatric emergency consultant,
in line with the requirements of the Royal College of Paediatric and Child Health.

« The environment and premises did not always keep people safe. The department was crowded at times, and this led
to patients being cared for in areas not designed for patients, such as the corridor, and remaining on the back of an
ambulance, for sometimes long periods of time.

« The service did not always ensure staff had updated life support and safeguarding training to keep people safe.

« Staff did not complete and update risk assessments for each patient or keep good care records. They did not identify
or quickly act upon patients at risk of deterioration. The staff did not always recognise, assess, and treat patients in
line with sepsis guidelines. There was a risk of a deteriorating patient not being picked up through ongoing clinical
risk assessments. Staff did not always take regular patient observations in line with their local guidelines.

« Staff did not ensure all patients had their medicines on time and this included time critical medicines, and patients
were not always offered regular food and drink.

« There was poor flow in the hospital due to capacity and delays in getting patients safely discharged. This meant many
patients remained in the department for long periods of time. The service could not always be delivered to meet the
changing needs of the local population. Services had evolved, patient numbers had increased, there were long
waiting times and the service did not meet demand.

« Due to full and overstretched capacity in the urgent and emergency care system, patients could not always access the
service when they needed it and sometimes had to wait a long time for treatment.

+ There were poor and ineffective governance processes within the department. Although there was a basis for good
governance, it did not demonstrate positive action and change, learning, improvement or provide assurance of safe
and quality care. There was a lack of regular and consistent audit, risk management and learning from incidents.
Where audits occurred, actions were not implemented to drive improvement.

However:
« The service mostly controlled infection risk well. Staff used equipment and control measures to protect patients,

themselves, and others from infection, although hand-washing was not always carried out when required. They kept
equipment and the premises visibly clean.

3 The County Hospital Inspection report 25



Urgent and emergency services

« Doctors, nurses, and other healthcare professionals worked together as a team to benefit patients. They supported
each other. Key services were available 7 days a week.

« Staff mostly treated patients with compassion and kindness, took account of their individual needs, and helped them
understand their conditions. They provided emotional support to patients, families and carers. There were pressures
in the department due to high numbers of patients and a department that was no longer able to cope with demand
and capacity. Staff worked their hardest to care compassionately for these patients in a difficult environment.

« Leaders were visible and approachable for patients and staff.

« Staff felt respected, supported and valued. There was a good teamwork-based culture in the department. Staff were
clear about their roles and accountabilities.

« All staff were committed to improving services, even though they needed time and space to make this work.
Following feedback to the senior leadership team after our first visit on site, improvements were underway to address
in earnest many of the concerns we raised.

Inadequate @ Y

Our rating of safe went down. We rated it as inadequate.
Mandatory training

The service provided mandatory training in key skills including the highest level of life support training to all staff
but not everyone had updated or completed it.

Nursing staff received and mostly kept up-to-date with their mandatory training, although the department was not quite
achieving the trust target. The mandatory training was comprehensive and met the needs of patients and staff. Training
was completed either during a face-to-face training day or through completing e-learning modules. Overall training
completion figures for the staff in the emergency department (ED) was 80.3% which was below the trust target of 85%.

Managers monitored mandatory training and alerted staff when they needed to update their training. This was
supported by the clinical practice development nurse whose focus was around education and training. All staff were
within a team which was led by a band 6 nurse. They looked at their teams’ training and encouraged staff to book onto
training to maintain compliance. However, we were told this was not working well at present due to high pressures
within the department. The staff were responsible for updating and booking onto their training themselves. Staff mostly
chose to do their online training at home due to time constraints at work.

All staff had to be compliant with different levels of life support training depending on their banding or level. Healthcare
assistants needed basic life support training; 53% had updated this this. Band 5 and 6 staff nurses needed immediate
life support (ILS) and paediatric immediate life support (PILS) training; 79% of staff had completed ILS and 67% had
completed PILS. The ED staff covered the paediatric area within the department overnight. The lack of specialty training
available for ILS and PILS training was on the departmental risk register with several mitigations to manage the risk
which included using trained staff in the children’s team working elsewhere in the hospital. On our second visit,
managers told us they had arranged two PILS training days specific for ED staff in January and February 2024 and
booked staff onto these; this would significantly increase compliance.

4 The County Hospital Inspection report 26



Urgent and emergency services

Medical staff received and kept up-to-date with their mandatory training. Medical staff training showed an overall
mandatory training compliance rate of 86.8%.

We saw 75.8% of staff had completed training on recognising and responding to patients with mental health needs and
dementia. Staff could access support from specialist teams and nursing staff when needed.

Safeguarding

Staff understood how to protect patients from abuse and the service worked well with other agencies to do so.
However, not all staff had updated or completed training on how to recognise and report abuse and not all staff
were aware of who to inform if they had concerns.

Staff did not always update their training specific for their role on how to recognise and report abuse. The nurses and
support staff training compliance was 79% for safeguarding adults level 2 and 68% for safeguarding children level 3. The
compliance for medical staff for safeguarding adults level 2 was 87% and 82% for safeguarding children’s level 3; the
trust target for all levels was 85%.

There was a risk from staff looking after children overnight not having completed their level 3 safeguarding training and
a risk of them not picking up all signs of abuse as a result, or acting upon them as required. There was no evidence of
failure to identify risk, but the training was not at the right level to provide the safety net required. The band 5 and 6
nurses staffed the paediatric area overnight. However, managers told us they did not ensure these staff members had
completed safeguarding children’s level 3 training. We raised this with the trust, and managers created a 6-week plan for
all nurses to have completed this training by the end of January 2024. They also created a database to identify who had
completed the training to ensure only trained staff were allocated to the paediatric area. We saw on our second visit this
was happening.

Most staff knew how to identify adults and children at risk of, or suffering, significant harm and worked with other
agencies to protect them. Most staff knew how to make a safeguarding referral and who to inform if they had concerns.
There was a referral pathway, however it involved an email referral and not all staff had an NHS email account. Some
staff said they were not sure of the process and would inform the nurse in charge, and two told us they felt they needed
more input and training on safeguarding. Safeguarding policies and pathways were up-to-date and accessible to staff
through the trust’s intranet. Staff had access to the trust’s safeguarding lead for advice.

There was patient information on recognising signs of specific abuse on display within the department. Children
identified as being at risk would be referred to the trust’s safeguarding team and to the local authority. There was a
system to make staff aware of known concerns about children and families.

Staff were aware of the Mental Health Act 2005 and the holding powers that doctors and nurses had. Staff got the advice
from their mental health colleagues as required; they were available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Staff reported they
were very supportive and easy to access. There was a pathway to follow for children who presented with mental health
conditions with a clear risk assessment tool.

Cleanliness, infection control and hygiene

The service mostly controlled infection risk well. Staff used equipment and control measures to protect patients,
themselves and others from infection, although hand-washing was not always carried out when required. They
kept equipment and the premises visibly clean.

5 The County Hospital Inspection report o7



Urgent and emergency services

All areas were visibly clean and had suitable furnishings which were clean and well-maintained. Staff cleaned
equipment after patient contact. Furnishings, such as chairs and flooring were wipeable and easy to clean. There was
enough personal protective equipment (PPE) available for staff to equip themselves for the different levels of protection
required within the department. Staff mostly followed infection prevention and control (IPC) principles including the use
of PPE. Hand hygiene sinks, hand gel and PPE were available throughout the department. Staff were bare below elbows
for effective handwashing and wore surgical masks as currently required by policy. Staff wore disposable gloves and
aprons, when required, for example when assisting patients with personal care. However, we noted a lack of regular
handwashing when observing staff delivering care and treatment on both our first and second visits.

Managers audited staff compliance with IPC practices including hand hygiene and cleaning. Hand hygiene audit results
for August and September 2023 were 100% and yet decreased to 50% for October 2023. They audited whether staff were
bare below the elbow, and they were 87% compliant for August and September 2023 and increased to 100% compliant
in October 2023. However, there were no action plans associated with these audits. They were either blank or did not
have an expected action or completion date.

The department took action when risks or issues around IPC were identified. The department had undergone an
external audit in September 2023 which showed poor infection control practices. Following this, managers organised a
project team for six weeks to resolve this. The team completed a deep clean of all areas of the department and the
maintenance team repaired areas which needed improving such as ceiling tiles and other IPC risks. The team did a full
stock take and decluttered areas which prevented good cleaning and increased their auditing to weekly. They also
developed a new cleaning checklist and reviewed the role of the housekeepers. Since then, they had an assistant
practitioner who worked regular supernumerary shifts with the focus of improving the IPC and educating staff on the
cleaning. They had previously received 2 stars in their IPC audit. This had increased to 4 stars on 1 December 2023 and
the previous week was 5 stars.

The service generally performed well for cleanliness although actions taken when results were not optimal were not in
evidence. Cleaning records were up-to-date and demonstrated that all areas were cleaned regularly. Cleaning audits
were completed monthly by the IPC nurse looking at the whole environment. The results varied between 50% and 75%
for August to October 2023. However, there was no action plan to increase compliance. There were two regular domestic
staff who cleaned the department between 6am and 8pm. There were no cleaners in the department at night and any
cleaning was carried out by the nursing team and support services assistants. However, due to the increased patient
numbers within the department, this was not always possible. This meant the cleaners spent the first part of their shift
catching up on the cleaning from overnight. The cleaners were audited weekly, and failings were addressed
immediately; we saw evidence of this within the cleaners’ records.

Guidance was available for staff in the trust’s IPC policy. The policy described all protocols required to maintain a good
level of cleanliness, infection control and hygiene. The staff could get further IPC information from the infection control
nurses who attended the department weekly. We were told they were very accessible and approachable.

Staff were not all compliant with their training in IPC and hand hygiene. Training data showed 62.5% of nursing staff and
71% of medical staff had completed IPC level 2 training. This was below the trust target of 85%.

Side rooms were available for patients when isolation was required, and staff told us how they would manage the risks
associated with transmittable infections. This was in line with best practice.

Data showed there had been no infection control cases reported in 2023. This included E-coli, MRSA and MSSA
bacteraemia.

6 The County Hospital Inspection report 28



Urgent and emergency services

Environment and equipment
The design, maintenance and use of facilities, premises and equipment did not always keep people safe.

The design of the environment did not always meet national guidance and did not always allow good patient flow. The
department was small and cramped for the number of patients it saw. This meant it was cluttered and patients were
being cared for within areas which were unsuitable, such as the corridor.

There were some risks from the environment in the children’s area not being fully secured or free of manageable risks.
The area was located next to the adult department but operated as an independent unit, thus separating the children’s
and adult’s emergency care pathways as recommended by national standards. It had two trolley bays and two rooms,
one of which had two trolleys. There were also seats for patients who were waiting. Of these rooms, one had a door
which was not secured and opened immediately into the ambulance bay outside. The other room had unsecured access
to the main waiting room. One of these rooms had consumables in which could pose a risk to children such as needles,
scissors, and sharps bins.

On our second visit, we found the paediatric rooms had been made secure and safe. The two exit doors in the clinical
rooms were locked with no unauthorised access into the area in or out. The team working in the area were able to
unlock the doors from inside easily if needed in an emergency or for required access. The clinical areas had also been
decluttered from medical or other equipment that might pose a risk to children or others. However, we saw there was no
emergency call bell within clinic room 1. This meant in an emergency, staff could not be alerted quickly.

The service was taking steps to limit delays for patients arriving by ambulance and ensure patients were safe, although
there was not always oversight of patients held in spaces not intended to provide care or treatment. The department
was working hard to limit as much as possible the delays faced by ambulances when handing over patients. However,
this often resulted in patients being held in a narrow corridor on a trolley for indeterminate lengths of time and with
limited oversight. Also, relatives or carers accompanying the patient often had nowhere to sit or made the area crowded
and harder to navigate when the corridor was not designed for this purpose. We saw all four internal trolley spaces in
the corridor were in use constantly whilst we were on site over the three days. There was a nurse who was assigned to
look after the patients in this corridor, but they were required or needed to step away at times.

In November 2023, 556 patients were cared for in the internal corridor and 1,313 were cared for in the pitstop corridor
chairs. In order to improve the oversight, we recognised on our first visit was not ideal at all times, a healthcare assistant
was delegated to look after and oversee the patients in the corridor 24 hours a day alongside the nurse. We observed the
care and treatment being carried out with kindness and the patient receiving an apology for the situation from the
nurse, despite there being difficulties maintaining privacy and dignity for patients.

There was poor visibility of patients for their safety and welfare in waiting areas, although steps had been taken to
address this problem after our first visit. The main walk-in waiting area for patients and those with them was mostly not
visible to the reception staff and there were no CCTV cameras to monitor patients. Staff told us they were due to have a
mirror fitted to increase visibility for reception staff, but this had not happened.

However, following our first visit where we highlighted the safety risks from poor visibility, a nurse coordinator now
oversaw the main waiting room alongside a healthcare assistant and was based in the area. They supported the patients
waiting with regular communication and safety and welfare checks. This was supported 24 hours a day to provide

7 The County Hospital Inspection report 29



Urgent and emergency services

clinical safety to patients waiting for further procedures or triage. The only concern for the nurse overseeing the patients
in the waiting room was with the number of patients to support. At the time of our visit, they were looking after up to 15
patients who were required to have some form of check every hour. We were told this was almost impossible to achieve
safely with the constant flow of patients.

The service had a ‘pitstop’ area and a ‘fit to sit’ area. The pitstop was used to assess and triage patients who were either
brought in by ambulance or were walk-in. This was staffed by three nurses, a healthcare assistant and a senior doctor at
all times. These patients were moved to an area within the department following assessment. However, often due to the
lack of space, this could be back into the waiting area or onto one of the nine chairs outside the pitstop called ‘post
pitstop’.

The ‘fit to sit” area was an ambulatory area with nine recliner chairs. This had limited space and was mostly used for
patients waiting for a cubicle to become free in majors. However, there was no criteria for staff to follow for patients who
were appropriate to be placed in this area. Due to the lack of cubicles available, patients often remained in this area for
long periods of time. For example, we saw on the 7 December 2023, an 89-year-old patient had been in the department
for 19 hours and had been in a chair overnight. We also saw cardiac patients who needed monitoring were in the it to
sit” area for long periods.

Following requirements from NHS England to provide additional support to EDs, the trust had established a medical
same-day emergency care (SDEC) service and a frailty SDEC service. There were plans for a surgical SDEC service to open
on 18 December 2023, but this had been affected by strike action by junior doctors. The SDEC was open from 8am until
8pm and could take up to 24 patients. It had strict criteria to accept patients which included a National Early Warning
Score (NEWS2) of under four and the patient being independently mobile. It was staffed by two advanced nurse
practitioners, two nurses and a healthcare assistant.

Most patients directed to SDEC were discharged the same-day and could be asked to come back for non-urgent
investigations usually the following day. For example, we joined an 11am doctors meeting where it was decided a
patient from majors could be discharged home and brought back into SDEC the following day for further tests.

Non-clinical reception staff were required to navigate patients to the minor injuries waiting area when they were not
trained in clinical decision making. The layout of the department meant there was no visibility of the minors waiting
area and a risk a patient could deteriorate, and staff would not be immediately aware. Patients who attended with
suspected minor injuries were sent to the minors area which was located off the main waiting area. This was staffed by
two emergency care practitioners from 8am until 9.30pm, 7 days a week. The team saw between 15 to 20% of the
patients who attended ED. If patients attended with a minor injury when the department was closed, they were seen by
the doctors in majors or directed to see their GP.

There had been a lack of consistent checking of emergency trolleys and the equipment they carried. However, on our
second visit, all the trolleys with equipment used for resuscitation were now locked with a tamper proof seal and most
had been checked each day. On our first visit it was noted there were multiple gaps in the checking process. For
example, for one of the trolleys, the daily check was completed for 18 days in September 2023, 19 days in October 2023
and 18 days in November 2023. The monthly check was not done for two out of three of these months. On our second
visit we noted this had been addressed and there was only one gap in checking in the time since our previous visit. All
three trolleys had a tamper proof seal, but on our first it was broken for two of the trolleys which were both kept in
patient cubicles. This was resolved for our second visit and now a priority for the senior nurse.

We checked at least 30 consumables across both visits and found two out of date; these were disposed of immediately.

8 The County Hospital Inspection report 30



Urgent and emergency services

Staff could not always access equipment required for emergency situations quickly. There were no trauma packs or
haemorrhage packs within the resuscitation room. There was a chest drain drawer, but this mostly contained dressings.
Staff told us equipment had been removed when the area was ‘decluttered’ and not replaced.

There were insufficient treatment, assessment areas and waiting room space to accommodate all the patients attending
the department. Patients were often held on the back of ambulances until space became available for review. All
ambulance patients were seen in pitstop. Walk in patients were booked in at the main reception area. After booking in,
patients were directed to wait in the main waiting area, children’s waiting area, or minors to await triage. All patients
were triaged in the pitstop area or children’s area and were asked more details about their condition and directed to the
appropriate area to wait or commence treatment.

The mental health room was not a suitable environment for assessment. Mental health assessment rooms should follow
the guidance of the Psychiatric Liaison Accreditation Network and best practice. However, the managers were aware of
the risks. It was on the departmental risk register and there were plans to make improvements. The designated mental
health room was a cubicle within the majors’ area. The assessment room had only one exit point, when it should have
two doors, and there were potential ligature points such as sink taps. The door allowed patients to lock themselves in
from the inside or lock staff in preventing escape and it did not open outwards. There was no access to a toilet in the
department which was ligature safe. The service was due to recomplete a full mental health risk assessment of the
environment in January 2024.

The mental health environment was poor for patient safety, and staff did not always act to keep people safe. We spoke
to a patient who had presented with mental health concerns, and they said the staff did not understand mental health
and assumed drug or alcohol usage as the reason for their mental health decline. They felt ‘invisible’ and were not
checked on often. They said the environment was poor as they were in a room without a window, and this made them
feel anxious.

Patients could not always reach call bells and staff did not always respond quickly when called. We saw a number of
patients who did not have a call bell in reach and all patients who were cared for on the corridor did not have a call bell.
At times, patients or their families would need to shout when they needed assistance. We saw on a few occasions there
were patients cared for in the corridor who shouted for help and staff walked past them and did not attend them. We fed
this back to the managers who delegated a healthcare assistant 24 hours a day to assist the nurse looking after these
patients to always ensure oversight.

The trust had a protocol for how to respond to a patient who had left without being seen or while awaiting treatment. If
a patient took the decision to leave the department, and staff were concerned for their welfare, they had a process to
follow with the other emergency services (ambulance and fire services) to endeavour to get help to the patient.
Contacting the police was a last resort or if there was a fear for the patient’s safety or that of others.

Clinical waste was disposed of safely using separate designated waste bins for general and clinical waste and sharps
buckets for sharp instruments. Safe disposal of waste was audited monthly, and the department was consistently 100%
between August and October 2023.

Assessing and responding to patient risk

Staff did not always assess and manage risk well. There was a risk that a deteriorating patient was not identified
and acted upon quickly as staff did not always complete risk assessments for each patient promptly; this included
regular observations. There was a delay in assessment and treatment for some patients when the department
was full due to the lack of flow through the hospital.

9 The County Hospital Inspection report 31



Urgent and emergency services

Staff did not always complete risk assessments for each patient on arrival, using a recognised tool, in a timely way.
Medical staff did not routinely assess patients while on the ambulance. Whilst all patients were handed over on arrival,
some patients waited several hours before being admitted into the department.. However, if the patient was
deteriorating and there was no bed available, doctors would review the patient on the ambulance and start any
treatment where possible. There was no protocol staff used to review the patients who were waiting on ambulances for
longer periods of time.

The triage process followed evidence-based practice and patients were graded in accordance with the seriousness of
their injury. There was a colour-coded scale on the computer programme to give a visual appearance of those patients
who would need a more urgent review. The time the patient had been in the department was also colour coded to
indicate those waiting longer than the national standard waiting time and give a visual warning to staff about delayed
treatment, particularly when both more high-risk trigger colours were indicated. On occasion, when a patient was
reviewed first by a doctor the colour coding system was not effective as triage was a process not required to be followed.

We looked at 12 sets of records and found 3 out of the 12 patients did not have a completed triage. If the patient was
seen by the consultant, they did not always have a formal triage completed. This meant it was not always easy to
determine the patient’s clinical priority and patients were not always seen in order of clinical need, they were mostly
seen in order of attendance. When asked, staff were not always aware of who was the sickest patient in the department.

There were standard templates in the triage area to follow for consistent processes for specific conditions. For example,
the early pregnancy triage tool triage process described what needed to be done in each case; any warning signs to
escalate to a clinician; what tests or examinations would be required; and what to do in emergency situations, such as
high early warning scores.

In the main waiting area, the department used a process of asking patients to sit in either red chairs, if they had not been
triaged, or blue chairs if they were waiting for the next steps. With a crowded waiting room, it was unclear whether this
was helpful. One patient we met who had been triaged was anxious they could not find an empty blue chair for
themselves and their relative to use, so had taken a red chair.

Walk in patients were not always assessed or given treatment in a timely manner. There was a risk that unwell patients
could be left in the waiting area without triage for a long period of time without staff knowing the patient was at risk of
deterioration. For example, on 7 December 2023, a consultant told us a patient was in the waiting room overnight for
nearly three hours prior to being triaged. As the time to initial assessment increased, there was no clear escalation plan
of how patients would be triaged, and risks could be mitigated. Following our second visit, managers had assigned a
nurse to the waiting room who could also assist in triage if delays were increasing. Otherwise, patients were reviewed
within pitstop in time order and there were no systematic triage processes in operation.

Triage performance had improved. Standards set by the Royal College of Emergency Medicine (RCEM) state an initial
clinical assessment should take place within 15 minutes of a patient’s arrival at hospital. Not all patients were seen for a
clinical triage within 15 minutes of arrival. However, the department’s performance for triage within 15 minutes had
improved from 40 minutes in August 2023 to an average of 24 minutes at the time of inspection. Senior staff reduced the
risks associated with delays to triage by allocating experienced nurses to work in triage.

There was a risk that the consultants’ time within the pitstop area was not being best used. We found there was clear
ambition to have a senior doctor managing pitstop 24 hours 7 days a week cover. This allowed for early investigations
and early senior decision making and specialty referrals, as well as the ability to discharge patients after early senior
review. The model of senior doctor assessment was a recognised RCEM ED assessment. However, the lack of a separate

10 The County Hospital Inspection report 32



Urgent and emergency services

triage for walk in patients meant there was a risk that “well” patients were seen and assessed by a senior clinician before
a sicker patient, merely because they arrived earlier. There was also a risk that less experienced junior doctors over
investigated less acute patients and low acuity patients were being seen by a consultant which may not always be the
best use of resources.

Staff used a nationally recognised tool to identify deteriorating patients, but they did not always complete observations
in a timely manner. We saw NEWS2 were not always completed regularly and patients with high NEWS2 (indicating risk)
were not reassessed or monitored hourly in line with guidance. For example, on our first visit, we saw a patient had
arrived with a respiratory condition. Their first set of observations were taken at 10.42pm on 6 December 2023; they
were not then taken again until 6.45am on 7 December 2023. We looked at 12 sets of records and found in all 12 records
observations were not recorded hourly as required. Senior nurses told us NEWS2 should be completed hourly. Patients
remained in the department for long periods of time and at times had periods of between 4 to 6 hours without a NEWS2
being recorded. We fed this back to the trust, and senior staff told us the clinical skills trainer would provide focused
NEWS2 competency and refresher training which would commence on 11 December 2023 and continue throughout
January 2024. During our second visit, we were told this had started happening. Managers also reminded the staff
through their daily safety huddles about the importance of completing and recording clinical observations.

Managers were not aware of the poor compliance with completing observations and the risk of staff not detecting a
deteriorating patient. The service did not audit NEWS2 completion. However, following our feedback the managers took
action to improve compliance. They completed an audit of 8 sets of notes which showed a slight improvement with
completion of observations. It showed 4 out of 8 patients had their observations completed every 1 to 2 hours. Actions
to improve compliance included regular auditing and learning was to be cascaded through safety huddles.

During our second visit, we reviewed 4 sets of notes. We found the frequency of observations had improved in the
daytime, but they were still not completed hourly overnight. One patient went 6 hours without any observations. This
was again fed back to the managers. We were advised there would be weekly audits of the documentation with results
shared with staff where the standard was not met. Following our second visit, we were sent an audit which showed an
improvement in frequency of observations for patients with a NEWS2 of 5 or above. For example, the average time
between observations for a patient with a NEWS2 of 8 in November 2023 was 75 minutes; this had decreased to 57
minutes between 15 December and 28 December 2023. Connected to this audit, managers had developed a standard
operating procedure for patient observations. This gave further guidance about when staff should be taking
observations and when to escalate to the doctors. Data showed that at the time of our inspection 81% of nursing staff
had completed NEWS2 practical competency training and 83% had completed their e-learning training although this
was below the trust target of 85%.

Staff told us they did not have time to complete observations and management recognised this. Following our first visit,
they put a further healthcare assistant 7 days a week allocated to the area of most pressing need as identified by the
nurse in charge. They assisted with NEWS2 observations which meant the nurses had more time to complete other tasks.

The staff in the children’s area completed paediatric early warning scores. The trust sent us an audit of five sets of
records which showed these were completed in a timely manner.

Not all staff had a good awareness of assessment and treatment of sepsis (the sepsis 6 bundle) and did not always act
promptly to reduce the risks associated with sepsis. We looked at compliance with the sepsis 6 bundle within patient
records.

11 The County Hospital Inspection report 33



Urgent and emergency services

Sepsis 6 compliance was audited in April 2023 by the medical team. They looked at 46 patients who identified as septic
between January to February 2023. They found the average time to be reviewed by a doctor was 6 hours and 53 minutes,
the average time for the first dose of antibiotic to be given from the time of presentation was 7 hours 54 minutes.
Following the inspection, managers completed a sepsis audit which showed 5 patients out of 10 scored as red flag for
sepsis. Of these, two patients were not appropriately identified in the screening process. No bundles were recorded on
the electronic system for the patients. Results showed four out of five patients received antibiotics with the mean time
to prescription of 2 hours and 16 minutes and mean time to administration of 3 hours and 9 minutes.

Actions from this audit included training staff on the screening tool in triage, promoting the use of sepsis bundle in
triage and to re-audit in January 2024.

On our first inspection visit we saw nine out of 12 patient records had a completed sepsis screen on assessment. We
found three of these nine patients were given a diagnosis of potential sepsis. Of these three patients, two were given
antibiotics but neither were given within 1 hour as required, and the sepsis 6 bundle was not initiated or completed. We
raised this with senior staff who told us they intended to do focused teaching sessions and remind staff in their daily
safety huddles about the importance. On our second visit, we saw posters around the department highlighting sepsis
and staff had started using the sepsis bundle in paper form. The computer systems had been updated so when a patient
scored a NEWS2 of three or higher, staff were prompted to complete a sepsis screening tool. This was one of their
triggers for assessing patients for sepsis.

A clinical dashboard had been developed to monitor NEWS2. This dashboard highlighted if any patient in the
department had a NEWS2 of 5 or higher, if their observations had been completed within the hour, and whether the
sepsis screen had been completed and antibiotics given. This meant the nurse in charge had better oversight of these
patients. On our second visit, the dashboard showed all patients with a NEWS2 of 5 or higher had up to date
observations taken within an hour. Staff told us sepsis had been discussed widely in safety huddles and training sessions
had commenced.

The service sent a further sepsis audit which was completed on 22 December 2023. This showed four patients who had a
NEWS2 of 5 had been correctly identified; this was an improvement from the previous audit. All patients received
antibiotics with the mean time to prescription of 37.5 minutes which had improved from 2 hours 16 minutes in the
previous audit and most other elements of the sepsis 6 had been completed. However, there was no sepsis 6 paperwork
that had been completed. Staff planned to reaudit in January 2024 and promote the use of sepsis bundle paperwork in
triage. Following our first visit, the managers developed a new standard operating procedure to identify and manage
patients with sepsis within the department.

Staff were not always aware of specific risk issues due to the lack of completion of some assessments. We were not
assured that pressure area care and tissue viability was managed well within the department. We saw some risk
assessments were completed well, such as falls risk assessments and frailty scores. However, not all risk assessments
were always complete. Staff used the ‘Anderson’ risk assessment tool to look at the patient’s risk of developing a
pressure ulcer; it should be completed within the first hour of the patient being in the department.

We looked at 8 sets of notes and found the Anderson tool had not been completed in 5 out of 8 sets of notes. Two of
these patients were in their 80s and stayed overnight on a recliner chair in ‘fit to sit’ without their pressure areas being
checked. Where it had been completed in three sets of notes, they were not completed within an hour of admission; 2 of
them were 11 hours after admission to the department. We saw on 7 December 2023, a patient in fit to sit’ was noted to
have a red sacrum at 2.45am and again at 9.46am but there were no measures to reduce the risk of this developing into
a pressure ulcer.

12 The County Hospital Inspection report 34



Urgent and emergency services

Staff did not always act to prevent or reduce risks. Nurses told us they did not routinely use fluid balance charts even
where it was critical to the patient. For example, fluid balance was not always recorded if the patient had a catheter or
sepsis where input and output was indicative of a patient’s condition. We saw examples of this when we reviewed
patients’ notes. Following our second visit, we saw posters in the department prompting staff to complete fluid balance
charts. Paperwork had been reorganised to make it more accessible to the nurses and teaching and training had started.
Managers were going to audit compliance through the documentation audit.

Patients were not always been routinely monitored through regular observations. Observations were carried out
sporadically and inconsistently. Nurses documented them in different places, and meant it was hard to determine
whether it had been undertaken. One nurse told us it was documented in the ‘patient safety checklist’ and another told
us they documented it within the nursing notes. All notes we checked showed regular observations did not occur every 1
to 2 hours. At our second visit, we were told that the system had been updated to mandate the patient safety checklist
completion with each set of observations. The compliance to the patient safety checklist was not covered in the newly
developed documentation audit, but it was added while we were on site.

Initially there was no clinical oversight of the waiting room which meant there was a risk that a deteriorating patient
could be missed. This was improved following our feedback and following the first inspection visit, the trust added an
extra nurse to work with the “front door’ team of nurses to do regular observations of the waiting room. They were also
supported by a healthcare assistant from 10am until 10pm. Staff told us the waiting area felt safer and felt reassured
knowing there were staff observing the patients.

Patients were, at times, left unattended who were high risk within the majors area housing bays 11 to 15. Staff told us it
was a risk to patient safety when there was only one staff member allocated to the area as they were not able to always
remain in the bay. For example, when they transferred patients to other areas within the hospital. The area was intended
to be staffed by a band 5 nurse and healthcare assistant. On 6 December 2023, we saw a patient with dementia nearly
fall out of bed when the nurse left the bay unattended. They were found by another member of staff who walked
through the area. The nurse had transferred a patient to another area which had left the bay unattended. We were told
not all patients within this bay were always triaged and could be brought from the ambulance into this area. They would
bypass the pitstop area in certain busy times where they would otherwise be triaged. We were told that if a patient had
not been triaged within 20 minutes, the staff covering the area would complete this themselves.

Patient risks for developing venous thromboembolism (VTE - blood clots) were assessed. Patients should be risk
assessed for developing VTE when remaining in the department for longer than clinically intended and we saw that
happened. We looked at 3 patient records who had been within the department for over 14 hours and they all had a
completed VTE risk assessment and appropriate preventative treatment prescribed. The trust were also reviewing its
VTE policy for routinely undertaking VTE risk assessments in the ED due to the increasing length of stays for patients.

There was good support for adults with a mental health crisis. The service had 24-hour access to mental health liaison
and responsive specialist mental health support. Staff completed, or arranged, psychosocial assessments and risk
assessments for patients thought to be at risk of self-harm or suicide. The service had good support from the mental
health team who advised and assisted staff with mental health issues. In November 2023 the average time to referral
was 2 hours and 53 minutes.

Staff did not always have a good understanding of mental health and consider the ongoing risks for mental health
patients. They did not always ensure the patient was getting the right level of care required. We observed a patient who
was in the mental health assessment cubicle in majors on 6 December 2023 who had attended with self-harm concerns
and had self-harmed within the waiting area. They were visibly upset. We saw the patient try to get staff attention and

13 The County Hospital Inspection report 35



Urgent and emergency services

was ignored. There was a lack of interaction from staff, the patient was not checked on by staff regularly and risk
assessment not completed within a timely manner. We asked to see the risk assessment. This colour coded the patient’s
risk which led to enhanced observations if deemed appropriate; this had not been completed for this patient. This
meant there was a risk that the patient was not observed frequently enough and would cause further harm.

There was good support for children with mental health needs. The paediatric area had access to the children’s and
adolescent mental health service and used a risk assessment to assess children presenting with mental health issues.
Staff were able to get support from registered mental health nurses within a few hours where required to support these
children.

Staff did not always share key information to keep patients safe when handing over their care to others. Patients who
were transferred to a ward from the department did not have a written handover completed. The nurse did this verbally
and printed off clinical information from the computer system as the ward nurses did not have access to the ED
electronic system. Patients who were discharged to a care setting were not sent with a discharge letter or a transfer
document and we were told that often a verbal handover was not given. This meant care home staff were not always
aware of what had happened to the patient while they were in hospital.

Not all patients were wearing their hospital-issue wristbands to provide identification and prevent communication
errors. The department used a system which provided patients with identification wristbands on arrival. We noticed 4
patients had no wristbands on and 5 patients who were carrying their wristbands rather than wearing them and one was
being carried by a parent and not the young person. We saw the lack of wristbands on patients was discussed in the
November 2023 divisional quality governance meeting including concerns that medicines were given to patients with no
wristbands. There was no action from the meeting to improve compliance with wristbands.

There was good oversight of patients for the senior team in the department. Each computer in the department had
access to a patient management screen which displayed an overview of patients. It showed the length of time each
patient had been in the department, or on an ambulance, or were waiting for triage, or treatment. Managers saw where
the greatest risks were and moved staff and resources around accordingly. A patient flow facilitator was based in the
department every day and liaised with site managers, matrons, and doctors to access beds for patients as soon as
possible. Risks were discussed at regular bed meetings every day; these were held four times throughout the day.

Nurse staffing

The service did not always have enough nursing staff and support staff with the right qualifications, skills,
training, and experience to keep patients safe from avoidable harm and to provide the right care and treatment.
Managers reviewed staffing levels and skill mix, and gave bank and agency staff a full induction.

The service did not always have enough nursing and support staff to keep patients safe and complete basic tasks at
times, although measures had been taken to improve this. Staff told us there were not enough staff to care for the
number of patients and they felt it was unsafe as they did not always have time to deliver safe care. This was evident
with some of the issues found including lack of timely observations, poor risk assessment and poor record
management. Managers calculated and reviewed the number and grade of nurses, nursing assistants and healthcare
assistants needed for each shift in accordance with national guidance, but this did not meet the demand of the patients
in the department. The Royal College of Nursing (RCN) Nursing Workforce Standards within a Type 1 ED require the
nursing workforce to be determined by looking at a number of things. This includes using a baseline emergency staffing
tool (BEST). The BEST ratio for low dependency patients is one nurse to 3.5 patients. There were times where there were
three nurses within pitstop who had more than 30 patients to look after; they were not always low dependency patients.

14 The County Hospital Inspection report 36



Urgent and emergency services

Nurse staffing levels had been established as 14 nurses and 5 healthcare assistants per day shift and 13 nurses and 5
healthcare assistants at night. The number of nurses and healthcare assistants matched the planned numbers on the
day we inspected. Managers had increased the numbers by 2 nurses day and night in September 2023 following an
increase in incidents in the ‘it to sit’ area. There were six band 7 nurses sisters who worked within the department to
support the nurses. They were not counted in the nursing numbers (supernumerary) and enabled therefore to step in
when there was sickness or support for staff or patients was required. There was a matron in charge and visible within
the department.

Some nursing staff told us they did not have time to fulfil their roles. We saw examples of this where medicine was
overdue by three hours and patient observations were not completed in a timely manner. We raised this with senior staff
in the trust who were responsive. They added a nurse and two healthcare assistants to the department 7 days a week to
support the team. During our second visit, staff told us the increase in staff had improved the care for the patients.

The service had 6 emergency nurse practitioners (ENP) who worked autonomously within the minor’s department; there
were no vacancies within this area. Most shifts had 2 ENPs who covered the department from 8am to 9.30pm.

There were 5 advanced care practitioners who worked throughout the ED. They worked staggered shifts throughout the
daytime and reviewed patients alongside the doctors.

There was a high vacancy rate and a relatively junior nursing team needing extra support. The service had a vacancy rate
in the department of 21.4%; we were told this were for band 5 nurses. The trust had a rolling advert out to recruit band 5
nurses. Meanwhile, the staffing gaps were covered by regular agency and bank staff. They had recruited 13 overseas
nurses who required support and training during their preceptorship year.

There was a risk due to not all ED staff nurses looking after children overnight having completed paediatric immediate
life support (PILS) training, safeguarding children’s level 3 training and paediatric nurse competencies. This led to a
potential risk of them not picking up a deteriorating child and acting appropriately. There was no evidence of failure to
identify risk, but the training was not at the right level to assure safe care at all times. Also, managers told us they did not
have a process to ensure these staff members had completed the appropriate training. We highlighted this with the trust
who put in immediate mitigations to ensure that from 8 December 2023 only staff who had completed PILS training,
safeguarding level 3 and the RCN competencies for paediatrics were allocated to cover the paediatric area overnight.
Data shared after the inspection showed 14 members of staff out of 73 were compliant with all three. Where it was not
possible to provide a fully trained nurse, the trust’s paediatric ward would provide a nurse, or the nurse’s training would
be risk assessed. For example, it would be deemed low risk if the competency or training was out of date by a month.

We were informed by senior managers after the inspection of a plan to train all staff over the following 6 weeks; they
aimed to have all staff trained by the end of January 2024. They had also assigned PILS as a mandated competency
within the roster. This meant when they were completing the staffing rota, they were required to ensure during each
night shift there was someone who was PILS trained to cover the paediatric area. During our second visit, the managers
told us they had linked up with the paediatric practice educator who was going to provide drop-in learning sessions for
the nurses as well as assisting with signing off competencies for the nurses where able. The paediatric area was staffed
in the daytime by an experienced paediatric nurse and healthcare assistant who were provided by the paediatric ward
during the hours of 7.30am and 7.45pm, 7 days a week.

15 The County Hospital Inspection report 37



Urgent and emergency services

There was a reducing turnover in nursing staff. The department turnover of nursing staff had decreased from 13% in
September 2023 to 9.9% in November 2023. This was below the trust target of 10%. Managers told us they had a
turnover of international nurses who had completed with 12-month preceptorship programme in September 2023 and
had moved to a different area. They had recently recruited more international nurses into their team who were
supported by a buddy team.

The service had fluctuating sickness rates. The sickness rate for September to November 2023 was an average of 5.7%.
The sickness rate for qualified nursing staff fluctuated between 0.7% and 7.9% in 2023; the trust target was 3.5%. The
sickness rate for healthcare assistants had considerably decreased in 2023 from 18% in January to 1.6% in August 2023.

The service had a high but reducing number of bank and agency nurses on shift. Agency nursing numbers had decreased
from 31% in September 2023 to 25% in November 2023. Managers made sure all bank and agency staff had a full
induction and understood the service before starting their shift. Most agency staff were regular staff who knew the
department and were experienced ED nurses. There was an average over the same time period of 9.2% of shifts which
were covered by bank nurses. Of these shifts there were 5.8% unfilled shifts in September 2023 which decreased to 2%
of shifts unfilled in November 2023.

Medical staffing

The service did not have enough medical staff with the right qualifications, skills, training and experience to keep
patients safe from avoidable harm and to provide the right care and treatment. There was a significant shortfall
in the recommended number of consultants working in the service, and no paediatric emergency medicine
consultant. However, managers regularly reviewed staffing levels and skill mix, and gave locum staff a full
induction.

The service did not have enough medical staff to keep patients safe and relied on regular locum consultants to reduce
the risks and increase the safe staffing levels within the department. There were 3.2 full-time consultants employed. The
department had three consultants per day, working staggered shifts to provide senior presence from 8am to 7pm,
Monday to Friday. There were two consultants at the weekend providing cover until 9pm. This did not meet the RCEM
recommendation of 16 hours consultant presence every day. The trust had recently appointed one of their regular locum
consultants for a substantive post commencing in January 2024 and were interviewing for another two substantive
posts. The senior leadership team had submitted a business case to increase their consultant cover to ten full-time
consultants which would ensure cover in line with RCEM recommendations; this was awaiting approval by the executive
board. The consultant vacancy rate was on the departmental risk register. This had not changed since our previous
inspection where we found consultant levels did not meet the RCEM requirements. The control measures included long
term locum cover and additional hours covered by ED consultants. The low consultant numbers meant quality
improvement work was delayed and it impacted on the department’s ability to have emergency medicine trainees due
to the supervision required.

Not all medical staff had completed advanced life support training for adults and children which meant there was a risk
of them not recognising a deteriorating patient and not acting appropriately. There was no evidence of failure to identify
risk, but the training was not at the right level to assure safe care at all times. Managers were unable to ensure every
shift had a senior doctor who had advanced paediatric life support and advanced life support due to the low staffing
levels. We saw 54.2% of medical staff had completed either immediate life support or advanced life support and 4.2%
had completed the equivalent for paediatrics. To mitigate the risk, managers relied on support from other trained staff
in the hospital. There was a paediatric consultant who provided an on-call service and on-call intensive care

16 The County Hospital Inspection report 38



Urgent and emergency services

anaesthetists; this was arranged to provide further paediatric advanced life support (ALS). Additionally, the hospital’s
medical on-call team who attended the department when requested were all ALS trained. We were told there was a plan
to provide training to doctors to ensure adequate life support training was available. However, this risk was not on the
departmental risk register.

An on-call consultant covered the out of hours period 7 days a week. Each night shift had two specialist doctors and two
junior doctors who worked alongside the consultants. There were advanced care practitioners on throughout the day
who assisted the medical staff with reviewing the patients. There was always a junior doctor assigned to paediatrics 24
hours a day, with a specialist doctor assigned to support.

The service had high but reducing vacancy rates for medical staff. There was an overall vacancy rate of 16.3%; 40% of
this was consultants and 20.2% was middle grade doctors with a total of 5.23 full-time equivalent staff vacancies.

The service used high levels of locum doctors due to a high number of vacancies. There were a high number of unfilled
shifts although this fluctuated and was reducing. Managers told us they could employ locum doctors without too much
delay when they needed additional medical staff. They used reliable regular locum staff who they said provided a good
quality of cover. Managers made sure locum doctors had a full induction to the service before they started work. We
spoke to a locum registrar who said they had received a good induction and found it a very supportive environment to
work in. The service used 250 hours of locum time in September 2023, and this increased to 613.5 in November 2023.
These hours were for speciality doctors and consultants with 553.5 hours used for specialist doctors in November 2023.
The reason for this high number was 3 permanent doctors left over this time period and there were doctors’ strikes. The
service had a high number of unfilled shifts. In September 2023, there were 19% of shifts unfilled but this reduced to
6.75% in November 2023.

Sickness rates for medical staff were lower than the trust target of 3.5%. The sickness rate for medical staff between
September to November 2023 was 1.1%.

There was access to senior medical staff for training and development. The junior doctors had focused training every
three weeks for an afternoon. Speciality doctors had teaching on Friday afternoons. We were told this was mostly well
attended. We spoke to a junior doctor and a foundation year doctor who both confirmed they had regular programmed
time for teaching and training and had received induction when they started in the department. They were satisfied with
the way the rotas were managed and they both told us they had access to senior staff when they needed advice,
including out of hours.

Records
Staff did not always keep detailed records of patients’ care and treatment. Records were not clear and were not
always completed. However, they were stored securely and easily available to all staff providing care.

Patient notes were not always comprehensive. We looked at 12 records and found hourly observations, checklists, risk
assessments and fluid balances were poorly completed in all 12 notes we looked at. All notes were electronic but a
number of different systems were used.

There were ineffective care plans in the system for patients needing to stay in the department for longer periods due to
delays in discharging to wards. There was an electronic system for ED which was designed for patients who remained in
ED for less than four hours. However, due to the lack of flow through the department, patients were staying for long
periods of time while waiting for beds but the systems were not programmed to support care and treatment for long
stay patients. Staff did not have appropriate long-stay risk assessments for patients who remained in the department or

17 The County Hospital Inspection report 39



Urgent and emergency services

appropriate medicine charts. This meant risk assessments and medicine management relied on the nurse remembering
to complete them rather than a system prompt. Once the patient moved from to the wards, their records were held on a
different computer system. When patients transferred to a ward, this lack of shared systems meant there were
occasional delays as staff had to print all the patient’s notes prior to transfer as the wards could not access the
emergency department system.

The trust were aware there was a problem with the lack of a joined-up system and were planning on moving the
emergency department across onto the system used in the rest of the hospital. However, this was not due to happen
until at least the end of 2024.

Staff told us the patient record systems were difficult to use and inconsistent. We were told it was difficult to see what
the plan for patients was, their clinical needs, when a patient had been reviewed by a speciality and what care had been
completed. Staff were aware basic checks did not get well documented all the time.

Managers were not aware of the omissions we found within the patient documentation as they did not audit their
medical records. Following our inspection, they completed an audit on the documentation. They found the same issues
we had found including lack of regular observations, patient safety checklists poorly completed, poor sepsis 6
completion and implementation and a lack of fluid balance charts. As a result, they told us they were going to audit the
patient records monthly and implement changes to improve the quality of the records.

Records were stored securely on a computer system. All staff could access notes easily with their own login and
password. All agency staff were given secure access to the systems while working in the department.

Medicines
The service did not use systems which enabled them to safely prescribe, administer, record and store medicines.

Due to a poor medicines management system, staff were not always able to follow the systems and processes when
safely prescribing, administering, and recording medicines. Not all medicines were given on time and records were poor.
An electronic recording system was used that was specific to the ED. Although it was a good visual tool for staff, it did not
provide the required medicines information necessary to ensure the safe prescribing and administration of medicines. It
was not always easy or clear to see if patients had been given their medicines. It did not link in with any other digital
platforms which were used trust wide. For example, the trust used an electronic prescribing and medicines
administration (ePMA) system however, ePMA was used within the ED and only used once patients had been accepted
by a specialty. This meant there was a gap in up-to-date medicines information for patients.

There was a particular impact for patients prescribed time critical medicines if they were not prescribed or administered
on time. There was no alert on the system for these medicines. For example, on 6 December 2023, we saw a patient had
been prescribed antibiotics for sepsis at 1pm and they had still not been given by 3.40pm. They were prescribed on the
ePMA system which did not alert the nurse they were overdue. It relied on the nurse being aware of the prescription and
the time it was due.

The system also allowed for medicines to be prescribed without documentation of up-to-date allergies or other
medicine history. We were told the trust was aware and were in the process of updating and implementing a new system
into ED. This was not on the ED risk register despite the managers being aware of the risks associated with the use of
different systems within the department.

18 The County Hospital Inspection report 40



Urgent and emergency services

Some patients had not been administered their medicines at the prescribed time. We saw three patients in the pitstop
area had not had their medicines administered an hour after they had been prescribed. Of these patients, two of them
had not received their pain relief and one patient had not received medicines to help a respiratory condition. We were
told it was due to nurse capacity and there had been no time to administer the medicines. We saw medicines were given
with no drug history or allergies recorded in the notes.

Patient group directions, a set of authorisations for non-medical prescribers to be able to give certain agreed medicines,
were available and up-to-date within the department.

Medicines records were not always accurate or up-to-date. There was a risk that medicines were forgotten by either the
nurse or doctor as the online system did not include a medicine chart. Each medicine had to be individually prescribed
when needed. Documentation of medicines administration including routes of administration and specific times of
administration were not always completed on the medicine records reviewed. It was difficult to follow a patient’s
pathway regarding prescribing and administration.

Information on missed doses of medicines was not currently available for the emergency department. It was not
possible to undertake an audit for learning and improvement with the current available systems and processes.

The allergy status of patients was not always recorded. This meant allergies were not always highlighted and there was a
potential for a medicine error. We saw on the 7 December 2023, a patient in the ‘it to sit’ area was given two different
antibiotics intravenously without having a wristband on or allergy status documented.

Staff did not always store or manage medicines safely or securely. Medicines storage areas seen were locked and secure
with access only to authorised staff. However, medicines were not always managed and stored safely which was mainly
due to some disorganised storage arrangements. In the ‘clean utility’ medicine storeroom we observed loose strips of
medicines not in their original containers, with no coordinated system to easily locate a medicine. In the same-day
emergency care area we found some out-of-date medicines had not been disposed of safely. These issues were also
identified in medicines storage audits. There was a lack of individual staff responsibility to ensure medicines were stored
following trust policy. This increased the potential risk of a medicine error, or a medicine not being located.

Resuscitation medicines required in an emergency were stored in tamper-evident boxes which followed Resuscitation
Council UK guidance. Staff recorded safety checks on emergency medicines and equipment to ensure they were safe to
use if needed in an emergency, but they did not pick up the requirement for them to be tamper-evident.

Controlled drugs (CD) were stored safely and securely with access restricted to authorised staff. As required, checks were
undertaken and recorded by two staff twice a day. Checks of CDs showed they were within date and stock balances were
accurate. The staff completed CD audits monthly. The November 2023 audit showed an increase in CD administration
and recording compliance from 67% in the resuscitation area to 82% and an increase in compliance from 76% in
September 2023 to 83% in October 2023 at the nurse’s station.

The staff completed a safe and secure handling of medicines audit. Results from the 12 December 2023 audit showed
83% compliance. For each area of non-compliance there was an action to make improvements.

Staff did not always follow national practice to check patients had the correct medicines. There was a lack of a clear
system to check and record what medicines patients were prescribed at home or by their GP. For example, the ‘drug
history’ section on the electronic system was not completed in 11 out of 14 records reviewed.

19 The County Hospital Inspection report a1



Urgent and emergency services

Staff learned from medicine safety alerts and incidents to improve practice. The trust had an electronic system for
recording incidents and staff we spoke to were able to identify its use and how to access the system. Staff knew how to
report incidents and gave us examples of what should be reported.

The trust had a Medicines Safety Officer in line with NHS England directives. They investigated concerns of safe
medication practice, reviewed medication incident reports for local and national learning and investigated and led
analysis of medicine incidents.

The service commenced an audit of the patient notes following the inspection. They looked at 8 sets of notes and found
2 out of 8 patients did not receive their medicines within 60 minutes of it being prescribed. However, there was no action
plan provided to us for assurance of learning and improvement associated with the audit.

Incidents

Managers investigated incidents but they did not always share lessons learned with the whole team and the wider
service. When things went wrong, staff apologised and gave patients honest information and suitable support.
However, staff recognised and reported incidents and near misses and reported them appropriately.

There was no formal learning from incidents that happened in the department which meant staff could miss out on key
learning and improvements required from incidents. Staff we asked were not able to tell us about any changes which
had been made in the department following an incident. We were told learning from incidents was given at the safety
huddles which were at the beginning and end of each shift and general learning was shared in an encrypted social
messaging group. However, there was no mechanism for informing staff who did not attend the huddle or use the
messaging group, so it was not clear all staff were included, updated or involved.

Staff knew what incidents to report and how to report them. Staff raised concerns and reported incidents and near
misses in line with trust policy. Staff received feedback from investigations of incidents they had recorded but did not
always receive feedback from incidents from the department. Doctors told us they had huddles 3 times a day and
incidents were occasionally discussed during these. Although 4 junior doctors we spoke to could not recall any
discussions around serious incidents in the department.

Managers did not always share learning with their staff about incidents that had happened elsewhere. Staff told us they
had ‘Feedback Friday’ and ‘Wisdom Wednesday’ newsletters where learning was shared from events that happened
within the medicine directorate. We looked at three examples of Feedback Friday and Wisdom Wednesday newsletters
and found there were no incidents or learning shared on these. We did not see any examples of incident feedback to
staff within the department. Staff did not meet to discuss the feedback and look at improvements to patient care. Team
meetings did not occur regularly, and staff were not able to tell us about improvements that had been made following
incidents that had occurred. However, the trust had a patient safety panel every Friday where incidents were discussed
that had occurred in the trust that week. The sisters attended this meeting for learning but there was no evidence of this
being shared with the department.

The service had no ‘never events’ in the department in 2023. Never events are serious incidents or near misses which
should not happen if safety systems and processes are followed. The most common incident categories were
implementation of care and ongoing monitoring; access, admission, transfer, discharge; and medicine incidents.

Not all available information was shared with staff. A monthly matron’s ‘exception report’ was produced about
important data and events, but key information from this was not disseminated to staff. This meant the department
were not assured there was always learning from incidents and changes made to improve practice. The reports detailed

20 The County Hospital Inspection report 42



Urgent and emergency services

the incidents over the month and looked at the top themes. We looked at October and November 2023 exception
reports (where they reported on the previous month’s data). They showed there had been an increase in incidents with
harm. These had increased from 18 in September 2023 to 22 in October 2023; five of these were moderate harm. All
moderate harm incidents were reviewed by the division and a rapid review was completed where needed. However, with
staffing pressures, there was a high number of incidents still to review, although this was reducing. Although learning
was not evident following incidents, managers debriefed and supported staff after any serious incident. They did a ‘hot’
debrief immediately after an incident and then had a ‘cold’ debrief one to two weeks later. This gave the staff time to
process how they felt about the incident.

There was a lack of assurance that learning was disseminated or embedded from serious incidents. We looked at 2
serious incident (SI) reviews from January and February 2023. These were detailed and comprehensive. One of the Sls
was a cluster of incidents relating to patient’s suffering pressure damage to their skin. It was found in the incident review
that risk assessments were not completed in a timely manner, there was inadequate documentation of pressure
damage and failure to use effective pressure relieving equipment. We looked at 8 sets of notes specifically looking at
whether the pressure damage risk assessments (Anderson Tool) had been completed. Despite the serious incident
findings, we found risk assessments had not been completed in 5 out of 8 sets of notes and pressure relieving equipment
was not in use when indicated.

Staff understood the duty of candour. They were open and transparent and gave patients and families a full explanation
if and when things went wrong. We reviewed two serious incidents and saw duty of candour had been undertaken and
letters sent to all patients and families involved.

Requires Improvement @

Our rating of effective stayed the same. We rated it as requires improvement.

Evidence-based care and treatment

The service mostly provided care and treatment based on national guidance and evidence-based practice.
However, actions were not always implemented from clinical audits to improve patient outcomes or care and
treatment.

Guidelines and pathways were not always up to date or referencing national guidance. We saw that the guidelines and
pathways for illnesses, such as diabetic ketoacidosis and sepsis, were available on the trust’s intranet, however a few of
them were out of date or lacked referencing from national guidelines. For example, we looked at the guideline for
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease which had no references and was out of date. We also looked at the sepsis policy
which had no author, no date, and no references to Sepsis UK. The reference used was ‘Kidney Injury, April 2016’ which
was not an appropriate reference for a sepsis guideline.

The service used some of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines to ensure care was
evidence-based but not all care was evidence-based and provided in line with guidance. For example, the service used
up to date NICE support tools such as selecting people under 16 for a computerised tomography (CT) head scan (NG232)
(2023) but it did not follow NICE NG51 sepsis guidelines.

21 The County Hospital Inspection report 43



Urgent and emergency services

The managers did not always action results found from clinical audits and make changes needed to improve care for
patients. While the service participated in clinical audits which enabled them to show care was being provided in line
with national recommendations and best practice, they did not always create action plans and put the actions into
place. For example, the service completed a sepsis audit in April 2023 and found they did not always follow sepsis
screening guidelines. We did not see any actions implemented from this sepsis audit and the service had not re-audited
to check compliance. We saw that sepsis screening guidelines were still not followed. The sepsis 6 pathway was not used
effectively and in all the records we checked for patients being treated with sepsis, they did not receive their antibiotic
treatment within the 1-hour nationally recommended timeslot.

In accordance with national guidance, the department had a stroke pathway that ensured patients were seen promptly
and there were good outcomes. The service provided rapid clinical assessment and CT scans with the option of an air
ambulance transfer for the patient if they required thrombectomy at another specialist site. Stroke staff used a trust-
approved application on their mobile phones to view the CT scans which enabled rapid responses. This meant the team
could see and diagnose the scans promptly and treatment was able to be given. The stroke specialist nurse told us
significant investment and research had been given to develop stroke care within the emergency department with good
results. Outcomes of patients who had a stroke were collected and were mostly above national average. The sentinel
stroke national audit programme showed a compliance of 97.6% for the trust which was higher than the national
average of 93.2%. Data showed 100% of patients had a full stroke screening on arrival to the hospital; this was higher
than the national average of 94.4%.

Nutrition and hydration
Staff did not always give patients enough food and drink to meet their needs and improve their health.

Staff did not always make sure patients had enough to eat and drink. The service were delivered a selection of
sandwiches in the kitchen, but if there was an influx of patients, these could run out. We did not see patients were
always offered drinks regularly. When looking at the patient notes, it was not always clear when drinks or food had been
offered. We looked at four sets of notes on our second visit and found three out of the four patients had been offered
either one or two drinks; they had all been in the department over 14 hours. While some patients told us they were
offered regular drinks, we spoke to a number of patients who had been in the department for more than 4 hours and
they told us they had not been offered any food or drink, some of these had stayed overnight.

There were no drinks or food facilities in the waiting area. These were found within the SDEC corridor and just outside
the waiting room. Not all patients knew these were there and we found patients or those supporting them could be
waiting for 8 hours without a drink. Following the inspection, 2 extra staff members were placed in the waiting room and
on our second visit, we saw drinks were being offered.

There was hot food available for patients at 12pm and 5pm. Healthcare assistants did a breakfast round which offered
cereal and toast to patients who had stayed overnight.

Staff did not fully and accurately complete patients’ fluid and nutrition charts where these were clinically indicated. We
saw patients who were receiving fluid through a drip, patients who had been catheterised and a patient with acute
kidney injury who did not have a fluid balance chart. On our second visit, staff had started using fluid balance charts for
patients where clinically indicated. We were told training sessions were being provided to staff around the use of fluid
balance charts and their importance.

22 The County Hospital Inspection report 44



Urgent and emergency services

Pain relief
Staff did not always assess and monitor patients regularly to see if they were in pain and did not always give pain
relief in a timely way.

Staff assessed patients’ pain using a recognised tool but did not always do this regularly or give pain relief in line with
individual needs and evidence-based practice. Patients pain was routinely asked as part of the national early warning
score assessment, but this was not completed regularly for all patients. Observations were not recorded regularly for
most patients in the records we checked. Staff did not always check pain and giving pain relief was inconsistent. We
looked at 12 sets of notes and we saw examples of when pain was assessed, and pain relief given. However, it was not
clear from the notes whether patients’ pain was regularly checked, and staff did not always check the effectiveness of
analgesia.

Patients did not always receive pain relief soon after it was identified they needed it or requested it. On 7 December
2023, two patients within the pitstop area told us they had been waiting for over an hour for pain relief. We asked the
nurse who was looking after them why they had not received it and they told us they had not had time to give it to them.
Another patient told us they had to repeatedly ask for pain relief from different staff and it took a while to get any.

Patient outcomes

Staff monitored the effectiveness of care and treatment. They created actions from the findings to make
improvements. However, due to low consultant numbers, they did not always have time to make the
improvements needed.

The service participated in relevant national clinical audits. Managers and staff used the results to improve patients'
outcomes. Outcomes for patients were mixed. Some were positive, consistent, and met expectations, such as national
standards but some fell below national standards.

Staff completed the Royal College of Emergency Medicine audits on an annual basis, made actions to improve
compliance, but did not always make sure they were completed. The audits included ‘Consultant Sign off”, ‘Infection
Prevention and Control (IPC)’ and ‘Pain in Children’. The consultant sign-off audit from 2022 showed 30% of patients had
a consultant sign-off; this had since improved to 60% in 2023. The percentage of high-risk patients in 2022 who had
consultant sign-off prior to discharge was 6.3%; this was worse than the national average of 35%. The audit showed
100% of consultants and senior specialists completed their own documentation following a patient review. There was no
data available that showed consultant sign off for unplanned readmissions within 72 hours in children under 18 years of
age and fever in babies under the age of 1 for 2022. However, 2023 data showed only 15% of these patients were
documented to be seen or discussed with a consultant. The service was implementing key actions including further
education to improve documentation compliance and allocating consultants in ED two administration hours on each
shift to complete documentation and improve compliance. These results were discussed with the medical staff in July
2023.

There was good compliance with IPC screening, but not with the resultant actions taken to protect patients and others.
The IPC audit showed good compliance with screening patients for infectious diseases, COVID-19 and vulnerable
conditions on arrival; the department was better than the national average for all these metrics. This was a considerable
improvement from the previous audit. However, they were worse than the national average where only 10% of patients
where they had identified vulnerability were isolated in a side room and 75% of patients identified as potentially
infectious being in an appropriate area; the national results for these were 24% and 80% respectively. There was an
associated action plan which included education and improving the use of infection control checklists.

23 The County Hospital Inspection report 45



Urgent and emergency services

Improvements needed from audit findings were not always acted upon including acting on pain relief for children. We
were told that due to the low number of consultants within the department, they did not always have time to put
findings into practice and focus on quality improvement. The pain in children audit showed they were significantly
higher (68%) than national average (38%) for administration of analgesia to children in moderate pain within 30 minutes
of arrival and for re-evaluation of their pain following a dose of analgesia. However, only 31% of children had their pain
assessed on arrival or at triage, this was lower than the national average of 54%. The audit showed only 28% of children
in severe pain had analgesia administered within 30 minutes of arrival whereas the national performance was 58%.
There was an action plan which included review of triage to ensure pain was identified early and education around pain
assessment tools. These were due for completion in October 2023 and the audit had not been updated to show if these
had been completed.

There was a lack of meaningful audit around patient outcomes. Managers were not fully sighted on issues within the
department such as lack of completion of regular observations, lack of sepsis 6 compliance and delays in medicine
administration as documentation audits were not completed. Where audits were completed, action plans were not
always completed, and staff were not aware of the audit results. This meant changes were not always made as staff were
not aware of the lack of compliance. Audit results were discussed by the managers within governance meetings, but
these were not fed back to staff in the department. Staff told us they did not hear about any audit results apart from the
most recent infection prevention and control audits as there had been a big focus on improving compliance.

There was evidence patients had good treatment on their first visit and most did not require a revisit to the department.
Evidence showed the service had a lower than expected risk of re-attendance or similar to the England average from
January to July 2023; the reattendance rate had fluctuated between 7% and 9%.

Competent staff
The service did not always make sure staff were fully competent for their roles. Staff performance review
(appraisal) rates were low which meant staff were not always supported to develop.

There was a lot of demand on senior nursing staff to support a relatively junior workforce in nursing. Staff told us there
was a high number of junior nursing staff who required support from the nurse in charge and often there were quite a
few on shift at once which could be a challenge. Junior staff were working through their competencies and training but
required support for some of these throughout their shifts. However, the department was fully established with band 6
and 7 roles and these staff were experienced, qualified, and had the right skills and knowledge to meet the needs of
patients.

There was a gap in competency in emergency response for staff looking after children. As we have reported above, not
all staff looking after children overnight had completed the required training to recognise or safeguard a deteriorating
child.

Managers gave all new staff a full induction tailored to their role before they started work. This was comprehensive and
ensured staff had specific training relative to the department prior to starting. New starters had an inhouse
preceptorship programme for 12 months. The clinical practice development nurse (PDN) supported the learning and
development needs of staff. They ensured training was completed and booked, and new starters were given extra
support if needed.

There were a high number of new recruits to support, and this was a risk to overall staff competency. There were 17 new
staff members in the nursing team which meant the PDN was struggling to ensure they were trained and provide the

24 The County Hospital Inspection report 46



Urgent and emergency services

support needed. This risked the department having a fall in overall staff competency. We were told the PDN, and
education team found it hard to deliver all the training required to ensure competency for all the nurses in the
department. Following the inspection, the managers recognised the training needs were high and compliance was not
achievable with 1 PDN. Therefore, they were advertising for a second PDN for the department.

There was good support to new staff from their peers. There was a buddy team which had been set up which had 8
members of staff ranging from band 2 to band 6 who supported the new starters. This was set up by a band 6
international nurse who wanted to ensure there was a good support system particularly for the international nurses.

High pressures in the department meant that training and competencies were not being completed in a timely manner.
All staff were assigned a team which was led by a band 6 nurse. They were responsible for identifying any training needs
their staff had and giving them the time and opportunity to develop their skills and knowledge. However, we were told
this did not always happen and the band 6s were not always able to support their teams with their development.

There was good quality training where time permitted. The service used the Royal College of Nursing competency
booklets for emergency nursing. These were very comprehensive and covered all aspects of nursing within the
department. The training for this was provided by the education team. The training team also ran a programme of skills
to ensure the nurses remained up-to-date such as venepuncture, cannulation, and electrocardiogram training.

Managers did not always support staff to develop through yearly, constructive appraisals of their work. In 2023, 53.5% of
staff had received an appraisal. This was much lower than the trust target of 90%. During our second visit, the managers
told us they had assigned a band 7 nurse to each band 6-led team to try to drive improvement with appraisal
compliance. They aimed to improve by 20% by March 2024. The practice development nurse had developed a QR code
for the staff to scan which took them directly to their self-reflection form which was required to be completed prior to
the appraisal. This made it more accessible for staff to complete. When appraisals did take place, staff had the
opportunity to discuss training needs with their line manager and were supported to develop their skills and knowledge.

There were link nurses within the department who assisting with training and educating the staff in certain areas such as
blood transfusion, tissue viability, medicines and mental health where time constraints allowed.

There were low numbers of substantive consultants in the department which meant trainee doctors took priority for
supervision over doctors without training posts. Managers supported medical staff to develop through regular,
constructive clinical supervision of their work. Junior doctors told us the consultants and senior doctors were
supportive and offered supervision where needed. We were told they were given regular teaching sessions which were
well attended. As part of the national programme of revalidation, consultant appraisal rate was 100%.

There was no paediatric trained consultant within the emergency department. The Royal College of Paediatric and Child
Health requires each emergency department treating children to have one paediatric emergency medicine (PEM)
consultant. The senior leadership had not recognised the requirement for a PEM consultant and considered the
department below the threshold due to the number of children seen. However, this was no longer a mitigating factor.
There was a recruitment consultant advert live at the time of the inspection which was generic for both a PEM
consultant and standard emergency medicine consultants. This included paediatric training within the job specification
to provide improved paediatric competency, but this was not driving recruitment for a specific PEM consultant. The
team were otherwise supported by the paediatric unit doctors and a senior paediatric doctor on call 24 hours 7 days a
week.

25 The County Hospital Inspection report 47



Urgent and emergency services

Multidisciplinary working
Doctors, nurses and other healthcare professionals worked together as a team to benefit patients. They
supported each other to provide good care.

Staff held regular and effective multidisciplinary meetings to discuss patients and improve their care. The doctors had a
patient review huddle three times a day throughout their shifts. This meant the consultant had an overview of the
patients within the department and the care that was required. We observed a huddle, and the consultant was providing
the junior doctors with advice regarding the pathway required for the patient.

Managers actively worked together throughout the hospital to improve the flow through the hospital and ease the
pressure in the emergency department. The service worked well with the patient flow team and bed management team.
However, bed occupancy at the hospital was high. The patient flow coordinator worked with ward staff to identify beds
and help move patients from the emergency department and onto a ward. The hospital managers held bed meetings
four times a day where they reviewed number of patients, performance against the 4-hour standard, staffing and bed
availability. This resulted in plans being drawn up for individual patients. We saw during the meetings plans were made
to improve the flow in the hospital. For example, on 7 December, the decision was made to increase the number of
patients ‘boarding’ on the wards from 17 to 25. Boarding is bringing a patient to a non-standard bed space on the ward
for a temporary period when it is safe to do that for the patient. This was to ease the pressure within the ED as there
were 20 patients who were waiting for a bed.

We were told that doctors, nurses, porters, cleaners, healthcare assistants and any other support staff all had good
communication, a good rapport and worked well together.

The emergency nurse practitioners told us they worked well with the whole department. They were able to refer patients
to services easily. For example, they had a patient who had fallen and needed assistance at home. They referred them to
the frailty same-day emergency care team who arranged any social needs or admission if required. They said the frailty
service enabled them to see more patients.

Specialty services supported the ED but more needed to be done to help with patient flow. The managers had produced,
currently in draft, an ED internal professional standards document. This was to determine a standard required to enable
ED to undertake relevant tests, treat the patient and request for a bed for the patient. However, there were concerns
from the medical staff in the ED about support to them from speciality teams. The internal professional standards
document required specialities to review their patients in ED within 30 minutes of receiving the referral. Data showed in
the first two weeks of December, the psychiatric team took the longest to review their patients with an average time of 4
hours and 2 minutes; they saw 63 patients within these two weeks. The medical team saw the highest number of
patients with 1,022 reviews; the average time to outcome was 2 hours 36 minutes which was similar to the orthopaedic
teams. We spoke with the chief medical officer who told us work had been started with medical teams across the trust to
find solutions and improved working practices to prioritise patients needing a consultation in the emergency
department to help with the flow and the wellbeing of patients.

Staff referred patients for mental health assessments when they showed signs of mental ill health or depression. The
team worked closely with the mental health liaison team to ensure these patients had specialist input where required.

Seven-day services
Key services were available seven days a week to support timely patient care.

26 The County Hospital Inspection report 48



Urgent and emergency services

The emergency department was open 24 hours a day, every day, all year round. Staff could call for support from doctors
and other disciplines and diagnostic services, including mental health services, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

Consent, Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty safeguards

Staff supported patients to make informed decisions about their care and treatment. They followed national
guidance to gain patients’ consent. They knew how to support patients who lacked capacity to make their own
decisions or were experiencing mental ill health.

Staff understood how and when to assess whether a patient had the mental capacity to make decisions about their care.
If patients had full capacity, staff gained consent from patients for their care and treatment in line with legislation and
guidance and where it was possible to obtain.

Staff could describe and knew how to access policies and get accurate advice on the Mental Capacity Act and
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. There was a mental health liaison team who advised on mental health issues. They
were on site from 8am to 10pm and off site but on-call overnight. The staff reported they were very supportive. They also
would see children aged 16-18 years old who had been seen by a clinician.

We saw that 75.8% of staff had completed their training in the Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards. This was lower than the trust target of 85%.

Staff we spoke with did not have good knowledge of the Mental Health Act. This meant if someone had been detained
under the Mental Health Act, there was a risk staff would not fully understand how to protect their rights. Patients who
lacked capacity to fully engage in treatment decisions and patients who had thoughts of self-harming and or ending
their life were given 1 to 1 support where possible. We saw evidence that staff could get an agency mental health nurse
to support with enhanced observations.

The mental health liaison team reviewed the patients and supported staff with the care. We looked at a set of records for
a patient who was in the department with mental health concerns. There was a completed risk assessment and a
referral to the mental health team who had assessed the patient promptly. They had put a detailed plan of supportin
place for discharge into the community through the crisis team. The staff told us the mental health team were
supportive and prompt with their assessments. There was a monthly meeting with the mental health team, consultant,
and ED sisters where they discussed support pathways, triage and frequent attenders.

The staff worked well together. There was a policy for restrictive intervention and restraint where security and porters
were asked to support until the patient had calmed down. Some security and porters had received mental health first
aid training and felt confident to assist the department where needed. One porter had received star of the month for
supporting a mental health patient.

There was a pathway to follow for paediatric patients who presented in the department with mental health conditions
and a child and young person’s mental health assessment matrix which was completed. This enabled staff to ensure the
patient was getting the right level of care required.

Good @ = &

27 The County Hospital Inspection report 49



Urgent and emergency services

Our rating of caring stayed the same. We rated it as good.

Compassionate care

Staff treated patients with compassion and kindness. However, due to the crowding in the department and the
difficult environment there were some concerns around patient’s privacy being met at all times. This was
recognised by staff who were doing as much as was practicably possible to support privacy and dignity for
patients.

We found staff were kind and trying their best to provide good care. Staff were mostly discreet and responsive when
caring for patients. Staff took time to interact with patients and those close to them in a respectful and considerate way.
Patients said staff treated them well and with kindness. However, the department was often crowded which meant staff
were struggling to care well for their patients and always meet their needs.

We saw some excellent examples of good care and had some comments from patients including “staff were terrific and
kept me up-to-date”, “staff really helpful and the queue of patients is not their fault” and “wonderful, amazing staff”.
However, patients within ‘fit to sit’ had some examinations behind screens which did not always maintain their dignity.
There was not enough space for all of the patients attending, and they were not always cared for in the most appropriate
area. Some patients were held on a corridor with moveable screens to provide dignity when being examined. However,

these screens had gaps in them and did not fully shield the patient.

Sometimes, patient information was hard to keep confidential in conversations. Due to the layout of the department
and significant limitations with space, patients’ private information could sometimes be overheard in a number of areas.
Limitations in space made this largely unavoidable, but staff commented how they found it uncomfortable. Staff and
also some patients were also wearing face masks, and this made communication more difficult and there was often the
need to raise voices. The pitstop area was small and cramped and was a thoroughfare at times. Ambulance handovers
were taken in the pitstop area in cramped conditions and information was able to be overheard by patients waiting. This
too was largely unavoidable due to the limited space.

Managers recognised that lack of privacy was an issue. In response, they had converted a ‘mini laboratory’ into a new
space to support clinical conversations. Staff told us they moved patients into a cubicle or the new space if a procedure
needed performing or a private conversation, but this was not always possible due to the high volume of patients being
seen.

The department had created a space to try to improve privacy for patients and ringfenced 2 assessment cubicles within
majors. We saw these in constant use while we were there for assessing and examining patients. Managers acted upon
the results of the urgent and emergency care survey in 2022. One of their lowest scores was for privacy when being
examined. This was 7.9 out of 10 which was lower than the national average of 8.8.

Within the paediatric area, if staff needed further support with children and keeping them entertained, they contacted
the hospital’s play specialists from the ward who came to assist.

Emotional support
Staff mostly provided emotional support to patients, families and carers to minimise their distress. They
understood patients' personal needs and worked hard to meet them as much as possible.

28 The County Hospital Inspection report 50



Urgent and emergency services

Staff gave patients and those close to them help, emotional support and advice when they needed it. Staff understood
the emotional and social impact that a person’s care, treatment or condition had on their wellbeing and on those close
to them. We saw the staff interact kindly with patients throughout the department including while they were being
cared for in less suitable areas of the department.

We had mostly positive feedback from patients who recognised the difficult environment staff were working within.
Some patients told us communication could be poor at times when they were not sure what was happening, and others
told us staff had “gone out of their way to help” and they felt listened to.

The nurses were very supportive within the paediatric area. They told us they supported families after discharge. They
gave an example of a patient who was struggling with their mental health following a family death and they had referred
them to an agency to help with their bereavement.

Understanding and involvement of patients and those close to them
Staff supported and involved patients, families and carers to understand their condition and make decisions
about their care and treatment.

Staff made sure patients and those close to them understood their care and treatment. The CQC urgent and emergency
care (UEC) survey 2022 report showed the trust scored 8.2 out of 10 for being listened to. The patients mostly felt the
health professionals listened to what they had to say. Patients we spoke to generally felt listened to by the team.

Staff talked to patients in a way they could understand, using communication aids where necessary. There were
interpreting services available when required.

Patients and their families could give feedback on the service and their treatment and staff supported them to do this.
Where necessary staff supported patients to make informed decisions about their care. We observed staff explaining to
patients, carers and relatives the choices they had, and they were given time to think and reflect. When we spoke to
them, most patients were aware of the options available to them, to help make decisions.

Patient feedback was passed onto the staff either in the safety huddles or in newsletters. We saw in the October 2023
‘shoutout newsletter’ a patient had written “A&E team deserve a medal. Our daughter was seen within 5 minutes of
checking in by a consultant, who was so kind and efficient.” and “the nurses who dealt with me did so swiftly, with
professionalism and care. | was sorted within two and a half hours” and “really impressed, everyone was so friendly,
efficient, caring and attentive even though they were working under constant pressure for hours on end.”

The feedback from the CQC UEC survey 2022 was average. They scored “about the same” as other trusts in England for
all 9 sections of the survey. They scored worse for the questions regarding involving family, friend or carers and them
having enough opportunity to talk. However positive comments included “the staff were attentive and caring but were
stretched by the number of patients attending”, “l was treated with a kind and gentle way by everyone who helped me
that day” and “we were very impressed by the dedication and hard work of staff working in difficult conditions,

overcrowding etc.”

Requires Improvement - &

29 The County Hospital Inspection report 51



Urgent and emergency services

Our rating of responsive stayed the same. We rated it as requires improvement.

Service delivery to meet the needs of local people.
The service did not always plan and provide care in a way that met the needs of local people and the communities
served.

Although there had been improvements with the creation of additional services, managers were not able to provide
services to meet the needs and rising demand of the local population. Services had evolved, patient numbers had
increased, but the service did not always meet demand. This resulted in patients waiting for long periods of time to be
seen in the department and to be moved out of the department into a hospital ward. The waiting area was often
crowded along with all other areas of the department. The patient’s waiting area was small for the number of patients
attending and not all areas could be seen by the receptionists such as the minor’s corridor. There was an appropriate
waiting area for children.

However, senior manager analysed capacity and demand daily. They recognised the risks and capacity concerns were
high on the risk register. However, mitigations were only making limited inroads to improve flow and improve the
waiting times for patients in the department. The increased demand meant the staff were not always able to ensure all
patients were safe and well cared for. Due to the lack of time, staff resources and some poor record systems, patients
were not having their observations completed regularly, medicines were delayed, and risks were not always assessed in
a timely manner.

Not all facilities and premises were appropriate for the service being delivered. There were not enough cubicles in
majors to care for the number of patients in the department. This meant patients were cared for in the corridors on
trolleys and within the waiting room. Patients spent long periods of times, often more than 12 hours, in recliner chairs
and on trolleys.

There was a service to divert less urgent patients to a nurse-led service. The service had a minor injuries department
staffed by emergency nurse practitioners from 8am to 9.30pm daily and saw 15 to 20% of patients who attended the
department.

The same-day emergency care department (SDEC) was seeing a high volume of patients compared nationally. Although
it was helping with capacity constraints for the emergency department, the unit was often full and did not have enough
space to take all patients who could have been diverted there throughout the day. Patients who were seen in the SDEC
were discharged the same-day and if they needed further treatment, they were often brought back the next day into
SDEC. This helped to relieve the pressure within the emergency department. However, staff told us SDEC was often too
busy treating patients brought back in from the previous day that there was not enough space to take new patients from
that day. The lack of availability of capacity in SDEC was on the department’s risk register. However, over the last year,
the SDEC was responsive to patients and saw a high volume. The activity rate had been above both the regional and
England average. In September 2023, the SDEC rate for Hereford County Hospital was 44.8% compared to the England
mean of 37.9%. This placed Hereford County Hospital in the top 25% of trusts in England.

The service had a ‘virtual ward’ which was run by advanced nurse practitioners. This is where care was provided at home
to alleviate the pressures on hospitals. The role of the virtual ward was admission avoidance. There were 15 beds under

acute medicine and five under the frailty speciality. The hospital at home team saw these patients and monitored them.

They reviewed the patient list in the emergency department and selected appropriate patients for this service.

30 The County Hospital Inspection report 50



Urgent and emergency services

The service did not always have suitable facilities to meet the needs of patients’ families. Due to the lack of space in the
department, relatives or visitors were often standing around as there was not enough seating for them. However, there
was a relative’s room within the department for private conversations if required.

Meeting people’s individual needs
The service was inclusive and took account of patients’ individual needs and preferences. Staff made reasonable
adjustments to help patients access services. They coordinated care with other services and providers.

Staff made sure patients living with mental health problems, learning disabilities and dementia, received the necessary
care to meet all their needs. Staff supported patients living with dementia and learning disabilities by using ‘This is me’
documents and patient passports so they had all the right and most important information about the patients. We saw
there were sensory boxes available. These included fidget toys, noise cancelling headphones and fiddle toys for people
with high levels of anxiety or cognitive impairment. There was a notice in the waiting room telling patients of the
availability of sensory boxes and what was available to support people who were neurodiverse. For example, there was
a quiet space in the paediatric waiting area.

Dementia training was provided by the trust within the mandatory training; 84% of nursing staff had completed this.

The reception desk had a lower section for patients who were in a wheelchair to communicate effectively and there was
equipment available for patients who had hearing impairment.

The trust had improved their frailty service for patients. There was a dedicated frailty team and area within the same-
day emergency care unit. There were 6 beds for overnight care where needed as well as 4 chairs. It had strict criteria to
accept patients. Staff reviewed and selected the most appropriate patients to stay overnight and avoid admission to the
wards with a view of then being discharged home. They also admitted patients from ambulances; we saw three patients
on the 6 December 2023 who were admitted directly from ambulances. This reduced the pressure within the emergency
department.

There was limited written information in other formats. The service had information leaflets available, but they were
only available in English. Managers made sure staff, and patients, loved ones and carers could get help from interpreters
or signers when needed. Receptionists told us patients often used their phones to translate which was quicker.

The crowding in the department made it difficult to provide areas for some patient’s cultural or personal needs. Some
areas of the department provided mixed sex accommodation overnight such as the it to sit” area. This was permitted
and within national guidance on mixed sex rules in emergency care, but it was difficult for staff to always respect the
individual personal, cultural, social and religious needs of each patient cared for in these areas.

Staff had access to communication aids to help patients become partners in their care and treatment. There were some
pictorial guides so people with hearing, learning or speaking difficulties which could help communicate basic needs,
such as for pain relief.

We spoke to a patient who had Down’s syndrome and their carers who were accompanying them. The patient was happy
with the care and where they were situated within the department. The carers told us the provisions for patients with
learning disabilities (LD) were good. There were two LD liaison nurses who they had called in advance to arriving who

31 The County Hospital Inspection report 53



Urgent and emergency services

were described as ‘fantastic’. They were going to come and see the patient while they were in the department and had
previously attended a ‘best interest’ meeting with them. We were told if carers or the patient did not pre-phone prior to
their arrival, the staff arranged it, and they were seen by the LD team most of the time. However, they said on this visit no
staff had looked at the patients LD ‘This is me’ passport despite it being highlighted to them.

There was support for children with a learning disability. There was a specialist learning disability paediatric nurse on
the ward who would support the paediatric department if required. The paediatric team had support from the child and
adolescent mental health service for complex discharges.

Staff understood and applied the policy on meeting the information and communication needs of patients with a
disability or sensory loss. They escalated the need to extra support to the matron and offered 1 to 1 care. However, there
was no appropriate area for patients who had learning difficulties and who might have displayed challenging behaviour.
Funding had been requested to provide a suitable area.

Access and flow

People could usually access the service when they needed it. However, this was not always promptly as waiting
times and arrangements to admit, treat and discharge patients were not meeting national standards. However,
there had been a concerted effort to reduce ambulance handover delays. The department recognised the risk to
the community of ambulances being held up to handover patients.

Managers monitored waiting times but were unable to make sure patients could access emergency services when
needed and receive their treatment within agreed timeframes and national standards. When we visited at 8pm on 5
December 2023, there were 67 patients in the department with the longest patient waiting 10 hours 44 minutes and
26 patients had been waiting over 4 hours. The waiting times increased over the few days we were in the
department. On 7 December 2023, at 11am there was a patient who had been there for 26 hours, there were 42
patients in the department and over 20 patients waiting for beds.

Managers were aware of capacity issues and created solutions to try to increase the flow through the department.
However, due to the number of people using the service, and capacity issues within the rest of the hospital, there were
long delays in accessing assessment, treatment and admission or discharge, and national standards for ED care were
not met. Many staff told us, and we saw it ourselves, the department was crowded, and some patients experienced long
waits which resulted in not meeting everyone’s privacy and dignity at all times and potential additional clinical risk.
There were some systems to manage the flow of patients through the ED and to discharge or to admit patients to the
hospital when capacity was critical. The main solution included ‘boarding’ patients on the wards and increasing this
number to provide more beds. Boarding is bringing a patient to a non-standard bed space on the ward for a temporary
period when it is safe to do that for the patient. The trust had implemented a flow model in October 2022 where they
‘boarded’ patients on the ward. This was happening daily. While we were there, the hospital increased the capacity of
patients being boarded from 17 up to 25 patients across the wards to improve the flow in the ED.

Senior managers constantly addressed the capacity in the department, but with limited options for success due to
pressures throughout the health and care system. They could view the length of time each patient had been in the
department, and what they were waiting for, including speciality reviews or bed admissions. The computer dashboard
displayed the number of patients arriving from ambulances and who walked in. The data was discussed at bed meetings
four times a day, or more if there were increased operational pressures. These meetings were well run and discussed
relevant issues, such as demand, capacity within the hospital, as well as the level and safety of staffing. During our
inspection, the safety status of the department was categorised as “severe pressure”. All senior staff identified flow
through the department as the most significant challenge. Due to capacity and flow issues, the staff were looking after

32 The County Hospital Inspection report 54



Urgent and emergency services

patients from the previous day due to the lack of beds, while also reviewing and treating 200 plus new patients per day.
Capacity and flow issues were escalated to the site team. However, the team were struggling due to the lack of flow. For
example, on 7 December 2023, we observed within the 11am safety huddle, the team discussed that the hospital was
short of 50 beds for patients waiting for care and treatment.

Patients often did not always receive treatment within agreed timeframes and national standards. The Royal College of
Emergency Medicine recommends the time patients should wait from time of arrival seeing a decision-making clinician
should be less than 1 hour. In 2023, the median time to treatment had consistently increased to above the England
average from 49 minutes in January 2023 to 72 minutes in July 2023.

Along with all EDs in England for around seven years, the department consistently failed to meet the 4-hour waiting
standard. There was some improvement in meeting the 4-hour standard over a 12-month period; the percentage was
44.3% in December 2022, and 52.9% in December 2023. In November 2023, 40% of patients waited over 4 hours for a
clinical decision about their onward care. This was against the NHS constitutional standard that patients should wait no
more than four hours for a decision about their onward care or discharge home.

With a concerted departmental effort, there was a relatively improved performance in patients being handed over from
ambulances. The department recognised the risk to the community of ambulances being held waiting to handover
patients. The department had seen the percentage of ambulance handovers taking over 60 minutes fluctuate above and
below the England average (mostly below or better than). In October 2023, performance showed 81% of ambulances
were offloaded in 30 minutes and 94% in less than an hour. From 4 to 10 December 2023 staff took an average of 32
minutes and 49 seconds to receive ambulance handovers. This was better than the regional average of 1 hour 9 minutes.
During this time there had been a maximum wait for a handover of 3 hours 34 minutes. Data showed 83% of handovers
took less than 1 hour and 73% took place in less than 30 minutes.

There were too many patients waiting for more than 12 hours on a trolley, but this had recently improved.

« Patients’ median total time in ED was consistently longer than the England average.

« From March 2023 to July 2023, the England average length of stay decreased from 182 minutes to 170 minutes while
at County Hospital, the average was 238 minutes.

« There was a decrease in the number of patients waiting more than 12 hours from the decision to admit to admission
from 346 in December 2022, to 226 in December 2023; this was better than the Midlands average.

The service had improved its arrangements for transferring ambulance patients in which allowed ambulances to be
freed up more quickly. The hospital was ranked 6 out of 20 hospitals in its region for its handover time for 4 to 10
December 2023 with an average handover time of 32 minutes 49 seconds. The pitstop area provided swift handover with
ambulance staff and one we observed between the ambulance team and the pitstop team was efficient and effective.

The department had daily issues with finding beds for patients, we saw managers actively trying to resolve this and find
solutions. There were five patients on the 6 December 2023 who were waiting cardiology beds with monitoring which
were not available. One was moved out of resus and transferred to the major’s area while awaiting a bed.

Following the inspection, senior staff informed us the trust had changed its pathway for patients who have suspected or
known myocardial infarction who cannot be appropriately placed within the emergency department. The new pathway
meant these patients would be transferred directly to the cardiology ward regardless of bed capacity so they could
receive specialist management, monitoring, and oversight. They were also going to develop further exclusion criteria for
the it to sit’ area to ensure appropriate escalation processes were used for higher risk patients.

33 The County Hospital Inspection report 55



Urgent and emergency services

More people than average left the department before being seen. This is indicative of patients being made to wait too
long to be seen. The percentage of people who left the department before being seen for treatment was mostly above
the Midlands and England averages. From January to July 2023 the percentage increased from 4.6% to 7.5%. Patients
who chose to leave the department before assessment or treatment were given advice as to any risks that they were
taking where possible.

Learning from complaints and concerns
It was easy for people to give feedback and raise concerns about care received. The service treated concerns and
complaints seriously and investigated them, but they did not always share lessons learned with all staff.

Staff understood the policy on complaints and knew how to handle them. Managers investigated complaints and
identified themes. The complaints were reviewed by the matron and general manager and allocated to staff based on
theme. There was a consultant assigned to reviewing complaints and we were told they were very responsive. Managers
told us they phoned patients to try to resolve the complaint informally.

However, managers did not always share feedback from complaints with staff for learning, improvement and
development and the number received were increasing. Staff were not aware of complaint themes or changes that had
been made following a complaint. We were told that feedback was given either within safety huddles or within an
encrypted closed messaging application. There was a risk that staff would be miss these communications and be
unaware of changes needed to improve. The service had a higher-than-average number of complaints compared to
other areas in the trust. They had received 74 complaints in 2023. These had steadily been increasing from below 5 in
May 2023, to 27 in October 2023. The main themes were waiting times, communication, length of stay in the department
and mis-diagnosis.

The service clearly displayed information about how to raise a concern in patient areas. There were information boards
around the department telling patients how they could make a complaint and how to get support from the Patient
Advice and Liaison Service (PALS). We attended a meeting which was held weekly with the PALS team and a band 7 sister
to discuss any recent concerns and plans to address them before they became formal complaints. They had received 18
concerns through PALS in November 2023. We observed a concern discussed in detail and a plan was made for dealing
with it.

We saw there were limited actions from the complaints received in the department to make improvements. The
governance team produced a monthly assurance report. This described the complaints received and looked at themes
found. They were reviewed at governance meetings, but no actions taken to make improvements.

Staff knew how to acknowledge complaints and patients received feedback from the trust after the investigation into
their complaint.

Requires Improvement @

Our rating of well-led stayed the same. We rated it as requires improvement.

34 The County Hospital Inspection report 56



Urgent and emergency services

Leadership
Leaders had the skills and abilities to run the service. They were visible and approachable in the service for
patients and staff. They supported staff to develop their skills and take on more senior roles.

The leaders had the skills and abilities to run the service, although were struggling with the demands on everyone’s time
and priorities. The senior leadership team for emergency care was led by a team with the matron, ED clinical director,
and ED general manager. They were supported by senior staff at a divisional level. The ED team had good levels of
operational knowledge to lead the department in pressurised circumstances. There was an emergency care consultant
who was responsible for clinical care in the department and another who was responsible for the governance. They
worked alongside the leadership team to provide local leadership direct to the department. The senior leadership team
met monthly to discuss quality in the department although they had adjoining offices and had informal discussions
daily.

Leaders were supportive of their staff and caring about the service. There was a team of band 7 nurses who managed
and ran the department and were managed by the matron. We were told they were approachable, always listened and
gave regular feedback. The managers were visible in the department. There were two or three on each day with at least
one of them assigned to work clinically; they did not work any night shifts. We saw a dedicated and professional team of
staff across all grades. They all had respect for each other, and their roles and they were proud of their team. It was clear
from all staff we spoke with that leaders were supportive of their staff and passionate about their service. They were
aware of how the ED environment and pressures in the workplace affected the welfare of their staff. They supported the
staff who worked hard and tried to ease the pressures of working in such a busy environment.

Senior staff in the department were fully aware of the challenges they faced and felt the full responsibility of delivering a
safe service for all. The medical team and the nursing team worked well together and spoke highly of each other’s
abilities and support.

Staff development was encouraged. Nurses told us they were encouraged to apply for more senior roles within the
department. This meant they were fully recruited in the senior roles such as band 6 and 7 and had vacant band 5 posts
as these staff had progressed within the department.

Vision and Strategy

The service had objectives for what it wanted to achieve but they were not always achievable in the current
pressures. Leaders were working on a strategy to turn the vision into action. The vision was focused on the
sustainability of workforce as it supported safe patient care.

At the time of our inspection, the vision for the department was focused on improving the flow of patients through the
hospital but due to capacity pressures there was limited progress. The delay in discharging patients safely from ward
beds meant there was still poor flow through the department which led to long delays for the patient’s needing
admission. The trust had a standard operating procedure (SOP) called “enabling proactive flow from ED” which included
‘boarding’ of patients to release the pressures within the ED. Boarding is bringing a patient to a non-standard bed space
on the ward for a temporary period when it is safe to do that for the patient. The aim of this SOP was to not have
patients boarding on the wards out of hours. However, when pressures were high, this would inevitably happen, and we
were told this currently happened every day. As well as failures to discharge due to pressures for care packages in the
community, the pathways the hospital used to move patients promptly into community beds were failing due to a
similar lack of bed capacity.

There was quality improvement plan, or vision, which had two key ambitions for 2023/24:

35 The County Hospital Inspection report 57



Urgent and emergency services

1. Patients being seen more quickly in emergency departments: with the ambition to improve to 76% of patients being
admitted, transferred, or discharged within 4 hours by March 2024, with further improvement in 2024/25.

2. Ambulances getting to patients quicker: with improved ambulance response times for Category 2 incidents to 30
minutes on average over 2023/24, with further improvement in 2024/25 towards pre-pandemic levels.

To achieve these objectives, the department had a number of initiatives and sustained improvements to enable
improved patient safety including reduction in ‘time to be seen’ and time to treatment or discharge; demand and
capacity planning for more appropriate staffing levels; improved patient safety through increased quality of care; and
improved flow and reduced crowding through further development of alternatives to the emergency department.

A strategy was being produced to sit alongside the vision for the service. The main focus was to improve the numbers,
skills and experience of the workforce. The senior leadership recognised the environment unlikely to significantly
improve in the short or medium terms, and focusing on the workforce could have a bigger impact. The premise of the
workforce plan was to ensure early, consistent senior decision making throughout the emergency care pathway. The
plan and recommendations were based on national evidence, local analysis and were aligned to the strategic objectives
of the organisation. It had been developed by the service and underpinned by a focus on early continuous assessment,
rapid treatment, and discharge. Implementation of the proposed model would mean staff could deliver a
comprehensive consultant led service 7 days a week in line with national guidelines.

Managers had identified issues within the demand and capacity due to a low workforce and not having adequate
resources. They reviewed the nursing and medical workforces to identify the gaps. They looked at where the busy
periods were, recommended an alternative shift pattern which would allow them to review the true demand and put a
strategy to the executive team. They had recently put in a business case for an investment to create a more senior
medical workforce. This included a further five consultants and eight middle grade doctors to be in line with the Royal
College of Emergency Medicine requirements for senior staffing within the department. Based on the analysis they had
completed, they felt the strategy to recruit more senior staff would meet the current demand for patients seen.

The trust had increased the capacity within the department by expanding same-day emergency care (SDEC) and adding
a frailty SDEC service and later in December 2023, a surgical SDEC service. The department also had capacity within the
virtual ward which, again, it wanted to expand further to increase capacity.

Culture

Staff felt respected, supported, and valued. They were focused on the needs of patients receiving care but due to
pressures and the capacity of the department, they were not always enabled to deliver high quality care. The
service had an open culture where patients, their families and staff could raise concerns without fear.

Nurses and doctors spoke highly of each other and worked well as a team. There was a good understanding between
staff in different roles and the pressures they each faced; there was an inclusive culture. We observed staff working well
together and communicating as a team.

Nursing staff said they knew who to approach if they had concerns and some told us they had raised issues with line
managers or matrons in the past and had been supported and encouraged in this process. Staff told us they felt
comfortable in reporting incidents, there was a no blame culture and they always received individual feedback.

Clinical leaders were visible in the department, and it was clear they were respected by their teams. We were told some
senior staff worked clinically in the department to cover staff shortages and help teams deal with the workload. There
were daily safety huddles where staff could raise issues.

36 The County Hospital Inspection report 58



Urgent and emergency services

Junior doctors spoke positively of their training experiences and said their consultants were very approachable.

There was a wellbeing nurse who visited the department regularly to offer support to staff and education around mental
health and wellbeing.

One of the paediatric nurses won the ‘going extra mile award’ for assisting with an adult collapse in the waiting room.
They were really pleased to have won this and felt part of the emergency department team.

However, the department was often overwhelmed with patients and there was not always enough staff to carry out all
the required tasks in a timely manner. Some staff did not feel this was always recognised by all of the managers and they
did not always step in to help when required. They felt upset that patients were in the department for hours.

Governance

Leaders did not operate effective governance processes. Audits were completed but actions were not always
taken to make improvements. Staff at all levels were clear about their roles and accountabilities but they did not
have regular opportunities to meet, discuss and learn from the performance of the service.

The governance processes were not effective. Audits were not used effectively to drive improvement and information
was not shared with staff. There were systems to assess, monitor and improve the quality of care but these did not
always ensure changes were made. The department had monthly governance meetings where they reviewed
performance, incidents, complaints, and audits. Staff told us they were not aware of what was discussed in governance
meetings and information was not shared to ensure improvements were made. For example, at the 14 November 2023
governance meeting, the team discussed issues regarding discharging patients with cannulas in and not being sent
home with medicines following adverse incidents reported. They discussed how the discharge checklist was not being
utilised properly. An action plan was drawn up to make improvements including a standard operating procedure and
mandating this checklist on their electronic records. However, we were told by a number of staff that there were no
discharge checklists and no actions to take had been fed back about patients being discharged with cannulas.

The groundwork for governance was undertaken, but the follow-up, identifiable improvements, re-audits and learning
were not in evidence. The governance team produced an ‘exception report’ for the department which was presented
monthly. It included incident data, the risk register, patient falls data, training and appraisal data for staff and audit
results. We looked at October and November 2023 reports. The data was analysed for each of these areas but there was
no clear action plan with an owner to ensure improvement was driven forward in areas where needed.

Managers were not aware of some of the issues we found while on inspection due to a lack of comprehensive
governance, an effective audit programme, and learning from incidents. Some audits were completed to assess and
monitor the quality of care. However, we did not see audits for documentation, NEWS2 compliance and medicines
management. Patient observations and monitoring were not recorded regularly, the sepsis 6 bundle was not well used,
fluid balance charts were not used for high-risk patients and time critical medicines and other medicines were not
administered on time.

There was learning from incidents around poor observations and escalation of concerns which had not been learned
from. In an incident involving a patient in 2023, the investigation found there was a lack of regular observations and
abnormal observations were not escalated. We also found observations were not completed regularly in the notes we

37 The County Hospital Inspection report 59



Urgent and emergency services

looked at. Following the inspection, audits were implemented to improve compliance. We saw a documentation audit
including NEWS2 completion and sepsis audit had been completed. However, the action plans associated were brief, did
not contain an owner or completion date. Therefore, it was difficult to know whose responsibility it was to implement
the changes and when and how they would be completed.

There were good quality audits, but with no outcomes. Some audits did not contain action plans so there was no
evidence of actions made to improve compliance. For example, the matron completed an infection prevention
assurance checklist and a matron’s audit of the department bi-monthly. These looked at all areas of the department in
depth including clinical practice, infection prevention, staff knowledge and safety of all areas. However, there was no
associated action plan. We saw there were some of the same issues in the October 2023 audit as in the December 2023
audit and it was unclear if there were any actions to make improvements. Furthermore, the band 7 nurses completed a
weekly assurance audit. We looked at four of these from November and December 2023. We found these were
completed but mostly did not contain actions. We saw concerns about poor compliance with processes and records
remained unchanged. For example, on the 27 November 2023 weekly assurance audit, the nurse highlighted that sharps
bins were incorrectly assembled, old ‘l am clean’ stickers were on equipment and disinfectant sachets were stored in an
unlocked cupboard, these same issues were found at the 4 December 2023 audit and neither had actions to rectify this.

The managers were not fully aware of all the risks in the department. For example, they did not ensure the nurses who
covered the paediatric ED overnight had sufficient training in paediatric immediate life support, safeguarding children’s
level 3, and paediatric competencies; this was not on the department risk register. Following the inspection, the
managers provided assurance that only competent trained staff were covering the department overnight.

Although the trust had implemented new pathways for patients, there was a lack of effective strategy for managing the
poor flow within the department when it escalated and the outcomes for patients. The managers actively discussed the
poor flow daily and moved patients through the department when possible. However, patients were consistently not
receiving treatment within agreed timeframes and national standards and staying in the department for long periods of
time. There was no clear short-term strategy for improving the flow for the patients and sustaining any improved flow.

There was no formal feedback for staff to learn and make improvements within the department. Full departmental team
meetings or something equivalent for staff did not happen. The department had team meetings for admin staff, clinical
managers and matron meetings for the band 7’s and 6’s. For example, we looked at minutes from the band 6 and 7
meeting in November 2023 where they discussed infection prevention and control measures, appraisals, and the role of
the nurse in charge, However, there were no clear actions in the meeting for making improvements. They did not discuss
training, incidents, complaints, feedback from governance meetings or audits. We did not see any minutes for team
meetings for bands 2 to 5. Staff told us they had them occasionally but had not for a while. We were told they were
unable to hold a full team meeting for all staff grades due to the nature of the service, but an alternative format which
worked for staff had not been implemented.

Following our second visit, the matron created a draft governance newsletter to keep staff informed. It detailed the top
risks, complaint themes, incident themes and new policies within the department. However, it did not go into detail and
areas for improvement. This was due to be circulated in January 2024 once it was finalised and agreed. The matron had
also implemented several new standard operating procedures. These included initial clinical assessment and use of the
Manchester triage tool, care of patients in the waiting room, and identification and management of sepsis in patients
over 18 years in the emergency department. On our second visit we could see this was making a positive difference for
staff and patients.

38 The County Hospital Inspection report 60



Urgent and emergency services

Management of risk, issues and performance
Leaders and teams did not use systems to manage performance effectively. They did not always identify and
escalate relevant risks and issues and create actions to reduce their impact.

Although there was a process for identifying, recording, and managing risks, the leadership team were not aware of all
the risks in the department or how to identify them. The service had a risk register which was monitored by the
leadership team. It was also overseen at an executive level through the trust’s board assurance framework. The risk
register was discussed within the monthly risk review meeting. We looked at the minutes and action plan from 11
September 2023 meeting. We saw risks were added onto the risk register and action plan was updated to ensure the
risks were escalated. However, it was clear managers were not aware of all the risks in the department. There were
several risks we identified on inspection which were not on the risk register. These included:

« Poor environment including lack of visibility in the waiting room.

« Computer systems which are not fit for purpose and lead to further risks for the patients.

The department risk register listed 18 risks. The highest risk was the risk of harm to patient due to long waits within the
ED. We were told the most significant current risks in the department were shortage of staffing and skill mix and
crowding for patients. However, these risks were not on the risk register. Staff we spoke with were not aware of the risks
on the risk register including band 6 and 7 sisters. Following our inspection, the matron produced a governance
newsletter which detailed the top risks in the department.

Risks remained for patients who were waiting a long time in the ED. It was not possible to mitigate all the risks
associated with running the department at over capacity. Where there were high numbers of patients in the department
it was difficult to have thorough oversight of every patient. Due to expansion to help overcapacity, and a department not
designed for the space it now occupied, some areas of the waiting area and corridors had limited visibility. Risks existed
for patients to deteriorate rapidly without being detected. These issues with safety and visibility of patients had not
been recognised and were not on the risk register.

There was a lack of evidence of learning from avoidable deaths. Mortality and morbidity (M&M) meetings were
scheduled to take place monthly but were mostly cancelled due to lack of consultant availability due to vacancies and
operational pressures. We were told the ED governance lead held quarterly M&M meetings but there was no written
evidence of these taking place. However, the governance team did review some patient deaths. The leadership team
submitted an M&M review in February 2023 to the trust overarching M&M review which looked at 2 patients who died in
the ED. The learning that was taken from the notes was that end of life booklets were not being completed and nursing
staff were documenting on behalf of the medical team. However, they found expected deaths were acted upon in a
timely manner and staff prioritised patient comfort and in-depth discussions with family were evident. There were no
actions from this meeting. Following the inspection, the trust told us they were going to address the lack of M&M
meetings. They had two new consultants starting in January and February 2024 and the trust told us M&M meetings
were going to be held monthly and minuted.

Information Management

The service did not always collect reliable data. Staff were required to use several different information
technology systems which were not efficient. Staff could not always find the data they needed to understand
performance, make decisions and improvements. However, the information systems were secure, but some
records were left open and unattended.

39 The County Hospital Inspection report 61



Urgent and emergency services

Data collection and record management in the department was not always reliable. Staff were required to use two
different computer systems for the patients records and a third for medicines. This made it difficult to effectively audit
patients’ data and see the patient’s clinical pathway through the department. Notes were then printed when the patient
was moved to a ward within the hospital. The managers acknowledged the difficulties the trust’s computer systems had
and the impact they had on efficiency and understanding safety and quality care. There was a long-term strategy to
move the ED computer system to the same one used by the rest of the hospital. However, the current timescale was
2025. There was no interim solution to improve the information management in the department and the risks for
patients. This was fed back to the managers who told us they would audit the data and aim to improve and implement
changes where necessary.

At times, some patients’ electronic records were left unattended and not all staff had updated training in data security.
There were three instances on our second visit where we saw patients’ electronic records left open on unattended
computer screens. These were in areas where they could be accessed by unauthorised people with a risk to them being
tampered with or viewed. Not all staff had updated their training around information governance and data protection.
Data showed 61% of medical staff and 65% of nursing staff had completed information governance and data security
mandatory training. This was lower than the trust target of 85%.

Engagement
Leaders actively and openly engaged with staff to plan and manage services. However, there was limited
feedback gathered to be able to engage with the views and experiences of patients.

Managers engaged with staff to gather their views on changes they wanted to make in the department. In May 2023, the
leaders held an ED summit where over 80 members of staff attended. Staff completed an ‘ideas’ survey at the end of the
summit to ensure managers captured all staff views. An action plan was created against issues which had arisen and for
each area within the department. Actions included opening the reception areas further, so patients were more visible,
nurse allocation to the waiting room and protected autism areas. While not all actions had been completed, there was
clear documentation about how managers were wanting to make improvements within the department, and timescales
to do so.

There were a number of newsletters within the department which kept staff informed and they could contribute to. They
had ‘Wisdom Wednesday’, ‘Feedback Friday’ and ‘Shoutout Newsletter’ every few months. Wisdom Wednesday focused
on different teaching themes, for example, March 2023 focus was stroke care and August 2023 was safeguarding
children. Feedback Friday was more focused on updates. For example, November 2023 reminded staff about wearing
masks in certain areas, building work that was happening and car parking. The Shoutout Newsletter gave information
for the medical division including ED. They had a ‘shout out’ section where staff could praise other team members. For
example, in October 2023 there was a comment which said, “Thank you for the ED team, you are all fantastic”. They also
had patient experiences which included good feedback from patients.

Patients and their families could give feedback on the service and their treatment and staff supported them to do this.
The patients were invited to complete a friends and family test. The response rate was low (18%) between 11 November
and 11 December 2023. The service struggled to get a good response from patients which was not unlike other
emergency departments. The results showed 71% of responses were positive and 19% were negative. There was
otherwise limited engagement with patients to get feedback and no plans seen to improve the response rate to the
friends and family test.

40 The County Hospital Inspection report 62



Urgent and emergency services

Learning, continuous improvement and innovation

All staff were committed to improving services, even though time and space was needed to make this work.
Following feedback to the senior leadership team after our first visit on site, improvements were underway to
address in earnest many of the concerns we raised.

The service had benchmarked its processes with another urgent care service within their foundation group. They were
keen to make improvements for the patients and reduce the risks.

On our second visit, we saw the staff on all levels had engaged with the feedback given and made changes to make
improvements and increase compliance in many areas. We found the staff responsive and keen to show us the
improvements they had made following our first visit and were enthused by further improvements they planned to
make.

Areas for improvement

Action the service must take to improve:

« The provider must ensure it is assessing the risks to the health and safety of patients of receiving care or treatment
and doing all that is reasonably practicable to mitigate any such risks through carrying out and documenting regular
observations, clinically-led navigation of patients through the department provided by trained and experienced staff,
managing patients medicines on time, assessing and responding to deteriorating patients and responding to any
risks such as sepsis, pressure ulcers, falls or patients in pain. (Regulation 12 (2) (a)(b): Safe care and treatment).

« The provider must ensure it has sufficient numbers of suitably qualified, competent, skilled and experienced staff
who receive such appropriate training to carry out the duties they are employed to perform and ensure staff are
trained to the right competency in safeguarding and life support. The provider must have sufficient medical staff to
run the department safely and effectively including a paediatric emergency medicine consultant. (Regulation 18 (1)
(2) (a): Staffing).

« The provider must ensure it is assessing the risks to the health and safety of patients of receiving care or treatment
and doing all that is reasonably practicable to mitigate any such risks through effective and safe care to patients
needing ongoing treatment but unable to have timely access to a hospital bed. (Regulation 12 (2) (a)(b): Safe care and
treatment).

+ The provider must ensure there are systems and processes to assess, monitor and improve the quality and safety of
the services provided in the carrying on of the regulated activities. It must assess, monitor and mitigate the risks
relating to the health, safety and welfare of patients and others who may be at risk which arise from the carrying on of
the regulated activity. The service must have an effective governance system, risk profile and audit programme to be
assured it is providing safe quality care and knows and addresses where it should improve. (Regulation 17 (1) (2)
(a)(b): Good governance).

Action the service should take to improve:
« The service should improve the safe and proper management of medicines are stored safely and appropriately.
(Regulation 12).

« The service should ensure improved arrangements for offering food and drink to patients who have been waiting a
long time to be seen, transferred or discharged.

41 The County Hospital Inspection report 63



42

Urgent and emergency services

The service should consider how it uses patient identification, such as wristbands, to determine if this is working
effectively.

The service should consider improving the response when requesting patient feedback.

The trust should ensure the privacy and dignity of all patients is maintained at all times.

The County Hospital Inspection report 64



Our inspection team

How we carried out the inspection

We inspected this service on 5, 6 and 7 December 2023 (first visit) and did a follow up inspection on the 20 December
2023 (second visit). The first visit was an unannounced full core service inspection looking at urgent and emergency
care. We checked the quality of the services in response to emerging risks within the department. We visited all areas of
the emergency department including the waiting rooms, resuscitation, minors, majors and same-day emergency care
services.

The team that inspected the service comprised 4 CQC inspectors, a mental health inspector, a medicines inspector and 2
specialist advisors with expertise in emergency medicine. The inspection was overseen by an operational manager and
deputy director.

During both visits we spoke with around 50 staff members including nursing staff, healthcare assistants, ambulance
staff, cleaners, doctors and managers. We spoke to 35 patients and 9 relatives or carers, and we reviewed 16 patient
records.

You can find further information about how we carry out our inspections on our website: https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-
we-do/how-we-do-our-job/what-we-do-inspection.

43 The County Hospital Inspection report 65



This section is primarily information for the provider

Requirement notices

Action we have told the provider to take

The table below shows the legal requirements that were not being met. The provider must send CQC a report that says
what action they are going to take to meet these requirements.

Regulated activity Regulation

Diagnostic and screening procedures Regulation 12 HSCA (RA) Regulations 2014 Safe care and

. . - treatment
Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

Regulated activity Regulation
Diagnostic and screening procedures Regulation 17 HSCA (RA) Regulations 2014 Good
governance

Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

Regulated activity Regulation

Diagnostic and screening procedures Regulation 18 HSCA (RA) Regulations 2014 Staffing

Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

44 The County Hospital Inspection report



Appendix B

g\Q Compassion ¢ Accountability ® Respect ¢ Excellence



ben.baugh2_1
Typewriter
Appendix B


89

Agenda

Introduction — Jane lves

Emergency Department Activity/Performance
— Jon Barnes

Discharges/bed occupancy — Jon Barnes
CQC visit/findings — Lucy Flanagan

CQC - Operational immediate and ongoing
response — Lucy Flanagan

Strategic response



69

Emergency Department

Overview

e Attendances at ED have increased and are above the pre-covid levels

* Ambulance conveyances have dropped - partly due to work that has been undertaken to put
in place a community urgent response

 Emergency Admissions relates to all admissions (i.e. including SDEC)

100% 7000
6500
80% 6000
5500
60% 5000
4500
40% 4000
Oct-22 Feb-23 Jun-23 Oct-23 Feb-24 Jun-24 Oct-22 Feb-23 Jun-23 Oct-23 Feb-24 Jun-24
Conveyances Admissions

2000 T R T R T T TR T R B SR R T R R T SR R R T R RS SR S SRSV R T TR 2000
1800

1800
® -8 " ’ \ " 1600

1600
1400
1400 1200

Oct-22 Feb-23 Jun-23 Oct-23 Feb-24 Jun-24




0L

Emergency Department

Care Groups

 The number of patients requiring resuscitation have remained reasonably stable
but with some apparent growth over the last few months

 The volume of majors patients have increased over time.
* The volume of Minor patients have stayed reasonably stable

e Paediatric attendances remain broadly stable albeit with additional pressures over
the winter period each year

Resus Majors
e 4500
180
160 4000
140
120 3500
100
80 3000
60
40 b0 o S T e LT T L T TP e L S C P L e TP E L CLELL L TEe e
Oct-22 Feb-23 Jun-23 Oct-23 Feb-24 Jun-24 Oct-22 Feb-23 Jun-23 Oct-23 Feb-24 Jun-24
1600 2
1400
1200
1000

800




TL

Emergency Department
Minors By Herefordshire PCN

 There has been no change in minor activity at the acute hospital ED following the
closure of the MIU’s

Minors Activity By Herefordshire PCN Only

50
o]
> G G ) > S N N © o N ~ N N > o> > o "% o 9% o o > > > > > > > > >
N 5 S N~ 5 a5 5 2> 2> 2 o v fa% % Ja% fa% % oV at at at 2% at v hafs hafe ks b Jafe % fa fa
< : h " h : < : : < : : < : 0 < : : < s o < : : : < :
S B S o o F & o O F @8 O & @ o T S o S
e EAST HEREFORDSHIRE PCN e HEREFORDSHIRE HEREFORD CITY HMG PCN NORTH & WEST HEREFORDSHIRE PCN SOUTH & WEST HEREFORDSHIRE PCN emmmmmm THE WBC (HEREFORD CITY) PCN
EAST HEREFORDSHIRE PCN HEREFORDSHIRE HEREFORD CITY HMG PCN

150

100

50

NORTH & WEST HEREFORDSHIRE PCN SOUTH & WEST HEREFORDSHIRE PCN
400 400

200

THE WBC (HEREFORD CITY) PCN




(A2

Emergency Department

Acuity

No clear patterns evident here —some growth in ‘standard’ acuity and some variation in ‘very
urgent’ and ‘urgent’ but the total of the 2 showing steady rather than sharp growth.

Acuity: 1 - Immediate Acuity: 2 - Very Urgent

80 2600
................................................................................ i 2400
60 2200
e =
1800
20 M 1600
................................................................................................................ 1400
o 1200
Jul-21 Nov-21 Mar-22 Jul-22 Nov-22 Mar-23 Jul-23 Nov-23 Mar-24 Jul-21 Nov-21 Mar-22 Jul-22 Nov-22 Mar-23 Jul-23 Nov-23 Mar-24
Acuity: 3 - Urgent Acuity: 4 - Standard
2200 3000
2000 2800
1800 2600
1600 2400
1400 2200
1200 2000
1000 1800
800 1600
Jul-21 Nov-21 Mar-22 Juil-22 Nov-22 Mar-23 Jul-23 Nov-23 Mar-24 Jul-21 Nov-21 Mar-22 Jul-22 Nov-22 Mar-23 Jul-23 Nov-23  Mar-24
Acuity: 5 - Low
120
100
7, [T [0, A NE——
60
40 W v
20
§ i i e s RS s e e e e e SR e

Jul-21 Nov-21 Mar-22 Jul-22 Nov-22 Mar-23 Jul-23 Nov-23 Mar-24

| A



€L

Emergency Department

Performance

* The increase in ambulance handover times (although still benchmarking well
nationally) are due to the number of patients in the ED — this is best illustrated by
the volume of patient awaiting an admission in ED as 8am.

Ambulance Handover Within 30 Minutes Ambulance Handover Within 60 Minutes

100.0% 35.0%

30.0%

90.0%

80.0% _— —a—8 20.0%

7 ~— M= e
o

25.0%

5.0%

60.0%

0.0%

50.0% -5.0%

Sep-23 Now-23 Jan-24 Mar-24 May-24 May-22 k22 Sep-22  Nov-22 Jan-23 Mar-23  May-23 Jul23 Sep-23 Nev-23 22 24 24
Patients Spending More Than 12 Hours In ED Patients With A Decision To Admit At 8am
—w— Concern =—w— Improvemert == Mean <« UCL sreeee LKL —— Std. 30.0
25.0% 25.0
20.0% 20.0
15.0% 15.0
10.0% 10.0
5.0% 5.0
0.0% 0.0
5.0% N SC  §  CG

¥

Y
e e naE 5SS Wa B BB e e a5 s R S G Lt LR LG LR L LI LT S g
Juk22 22 “.‘..‘ Jan.23 iy 23 "-,‘a ",uu [ Stea "..; s 24 M May.24 VQ B\ s} @ [N N Is) @ VQ AN o @ vg »

7
ol P G X" &
PO S R




v,

Discharge Delays

These are figures for all
Pathway 1 | o delays - Herefordshire
Powys and other English
i q % — Counties

Herefordshire and Powys

making up around 90% of
Pathway 2 the total and the split

- between the 2 circa 60/40

with Powys being the

P DB R P P D RLEDL LS T smaller part.
\

W o @ T W T W F WS

w0 Powys represents 15% or

ety workload over the Winter
23/24 circa 40% of the total
o delays

PO s R T o T TR VP s VR 1 TR P T P TS TS B, P PN
/ g - . P L - T S SO SO g s g
&g @ WY @ R




Acute Bed Occupancy

G&A Bed Occupancy

* Over the last year the average
beds used is roughly equal to
beds available —i.e. 100%

occupancy on average

=74

* |n the last 6 months escalation
beds used 20-40 at any one
time

340

320

300

280

wmn Core+Escalation beds occupied s Core beds occupied = e Core Adult GABeds

Note non- 200
Zero axis
R . T, T T T TS T T . S " S ¥
SRR R L R R i i R L
\ \ \\ \ \ \ \ N\ \ A\ N
F PSS
0“'\ 0“'\ 0”\ Q"'\ o\'\ 0’*\ A LA LA LA A A S LA ¢ 6"\ 0"'\

G&A Escalation / Boarding beds




9.

Care Quality Commission

 Unannounced/focussed / core service
inspection/ emergency department only

 December 5t 6th 7th gnd 20t

e All five domains
— Caring
— Responsive
— Safe
— Effective
— Well led



Ll

CQC findings requiring urgent attention

Nurses — child specific training

Triage process

Clinical observations

Management of sepsis

Oversight of waiting room/corridor/ fit to sit
Medicines management (2 computer systems)
Some environmental matters



8.

CQC safety Summit — Friday 8" December

* Revised staffing arrangements
* Enhanced paediatric support

* Revised Standard Operating Procedures for
sepsis, triage and clinical observations

e Baseline audits for documentation, clinical
observations, medication and sepsis

e Care provision for patients waiting for a bed
* Environmental and estate matters resolved
¢ LaunCh Of the ED daStha rd (in development for 12 months)

e



6.

2R =

38 0

Total In Departmeént Awaiting Triage

oo

6 6 26 0 O 0

<4Hrs 48Hrs >8Hrs <10 Mi... 10-20 >20M...
Patients at location

Ambulance Arrivals

21

Int Corridor 4 Walk In Arrivals
extcoren I 3 “ 17
Post-Reception . 3 W
resus [ 2 Within Last Hr:
0 10 20 "_‘_ &) 2
5 (B..
Attendances Ambulances
25 14
Sum of Attendances Ambulance Arrivals
U 0.00
Average Time To Triage )
Average of Ambulance Hando..
47
0
Average Time to Treatment
Handover under 15 mins
202

0

Handover over 15 mins

Average Time In Treatment

Post-Reception

0

Waiting To Be Seen

O 0 O

<30 Mi... 3060 >60 Mi...

Waiting Location

Ext Cor ED

F2s

o o

o

Int Corridor

Majors ED

o O O

Resus

0.0 05

Discharges Today

cen 2
000

oo

OO Admitted

Horia 19/07/2024 08:40:03

Last Refreshed

2)

15

In Treatment

Time Waiting

1 0 14

>30 30.60 >60 Mi... <4 Hrs 4-8 >8 Hrs <30 Mins 3060 >60 Mi...

ED Dashboard

NHS |

Wye Valley

23 0.0%

Decision to Admit

News 5+ In department

Time Waiting

0O 0 O

Time Waiting

7 4 12

Avg. Current LOS (Hrs) Specialty Ref Bed Plans for DTA

Medical Team
Orthopaedic Team - 12

Urology Tearn [N

Psychiatry Team

Surgical Team

0 10
1.0
Breaches
32
4 Hour LOS
34:18 .
Longest Stay 480 AJ
Performance
12:23
Ava. Stav ]
> 3 Hours

o

side room || EGED NEWS 5+ & Sepsis Red Flag
avu [N ¢+
1 Frome Ward... 3 (BI 0
. ; cas
" e M Screened | Not Screened
ccuward | 1

Garway Ward ] 1 5+, Red Flag & Antibiotics Within

20
GAU I 1 1 Hour
0 5 10
. Yes
@ Discharges @ Arrivals
L Breaches
19 Ju... —
—_— 4HR 8HR 12HR
19 Ju.. —= 32 24 20
————=—___  Capacity%
18 JU.., - e—
L 48%
f— 0% 100%




08

CQC ratings — Emergency Department

Inspection 2015
Safe Effective Caring Responsible Well-led Overall
m Requires Requires Requires
pro Improvement | Improvement Improvement
Inspection 2016
Safe Effective Caring  Responsive  Well-led Overall
. == e
Improvement pro Improvement
Inspection 2020
Safe Effective Caring  Responsive  Well-led Overall

Further inspection in December 2020 not a full service - no rating chance

Inspection 2023

Safe Effective Caring  Responsive  Well-led Overall
m Requires Requires Requires
pro Improvement |Improvement Improvement

.



T8

CQC Report — what we did well

Good infection prevention practices
Staff worked well together as a team

Patients treated with compassion and
kindness

Visible leadership
Staff felt valued, respected and supported
Commitment to improving services



8

CQC Report — what we need to improve

Action the service must take to improve:

« The provider must ensure it is assessing the risks to the health and safety of patients of receiving care or treatment
and doing all that is reasonably practicable to mitigate any such risks through carrying out and documenting regular
observations, clinically-led navigation of patients through the department provided by trained and experienced staff,
managing patients medicines on time, assessing and responding to deteriorating patients and responding to any
risks such as sepsis, pressure ulcers, falls or patients in pain. (Regulation 12 (2) (a)(b): Safe care and treatment).

« The provider must ensure it has sufficient numbers of suitably qualified, competent, skilled and experienced staff
who receive such appropriate training to carry out the duties they are employed to perform and ensure staff are
trained to the right competency in safeguarding and life support. The provider must have sufficient medical staff to
run the department safely and effectively including a paediatric emergency medicine consultant. (Regulation 18 (1)
(2) (a): Staffing).

« The provider must ensure it is assessing the risks to the health and safety of patients of receiving care or treatment
and doing all that is reasonably practicable to mitigate any such risks through effective and safe care to patients
needing ongoing treatment but unable to have timely access to a hospital bed. (Regulation 12 (2) (a)(b): Safe care and
treatment).

« The provider must ensure there are systems and processes to assess, monitor and improve the quality and safety of
the services provided in the carrying on of the regulated activities. It must assess, monitor and mitigate the risks
relating to the health, safety and welfare of patients and others who may be at risk which arise from the carrying on of
the regulated activity. The service must have an effective governance system, risk profile and audit programme to be
assured it is providing safe quality care and knows and addresses where it should improve. (Regulation 17 (1) (2)
(a)(b): Good governance).




€8

Where are we now

Business case to Trust board for medical staffing

Business case to Trust board for nurse staffing

Senior nurse oversight — extended hours of cover

Improved audit findings/ revised governance arrangements
Live dashboard improving situational awareness

Remains a significant priority — Next Deep Dive at Quality
Committee in August 2024

Revised Escalation process and associated quality/safety
response

Environmental and estates improvements planned for
August/September



v8

Wider Strategy

Virtual Ward

Community Integrated Response Hub
Improve access to GP out of hours
Maximise Same Day Emergency Care
Diagnostics

Bed capacity and Winter 2024
Discharge to assess



Appendix C

L Herefordshire
O Council

Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

Overview of Integrated working between Adult Social Care and Wye
Valley NHS Trust

This briefing note provides an overview of the integrated working between adult social
care in Herefordshire Council and Wye Valley NHS Trust specifically in respect of hospital
discharges.

There are three teams within adult social care who work in partnership with colleagues in
the Integrated Discharge Team (IDT) managing hospital discharges. They are:

1. Advice and Referral Team (ART) responds to Herefordshire residents directly;
receiving telephone calls and emails. ART supports the flow into adult social care and
identifies needs under the Care Act 2014 at first point of contact using a strength
based contact referral form. The team also provides residents with information,
advice, and guidance (IAG), with the Talk Community website providing a one-stop
shop for IAG. Referrals to the team come from health and GP colleagues, Community
Integrated Response Hub (CIRH), West Midlands Ambulance Service (WMAS), Harm
Assessment Unit (HAU), and out of county hospitals.

2. Hospital Liaison Team (HLT) delivers the Discharge to Assess (D2A) model. HLT
works as part of the Integrated Discharge Team promoting and supporting patients
leaving hospital. This team works with health colleagues assessing people and
agreeing discharge plans, engaging with families, wards and management. The
Urgent Care Coordinator sits within IDT overseeing the flow of patients/residents
through the system. The UCC meets daily with all parts of the system including
Hoople (Home First and Hillside), Ledbury Intermediate Care Unit, Locality Teams,
Hospital at Home (H@H), therapists and management. On average, there are around
150 discharges through D2A each month.

3. Care Act Assessment Team (CAAsT) is responsible for receiving all referrals from
hospital via D2A where the person has eligible adult social care needs and will require
assessment to source a long term package of care. The team works with
residents/patients and their families, therapists, reablement services, care homes and
domiciliary care.

Bennett, Justine 85 17/05/24
Version number 3


ben.baugh2_2
Typewriter
Appendix C





	Agenda
	 
	The seven principles of public life (the 'Nolan principles')
	Guide to Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee

	4 Minutes
	7 Care Quality Commission Inspection of The County Hospital
	Appendix A - Care Quality Commission, Wye Valley NHS Trust: The County Hospital, Inspection Report
	Appendix B - Presentation by Wye Valley NHS Trust: Care Quality Commission Inspection, Emergency Department
	Appendix C - Briefing Note: Overview of Integrated Working between Adult Social Care and Wye Valley NHS Trust


